# EXPANDABLE METAL STENTS FOR INOPERABLE OESOPHAGEAL CANCER

A West Midlands Health Technology Assessment Collaboration report

Authors:

Roger Gajraj, SpR in Public Health, West Midlands Training Scheme David Moore, Researcher, WMHTAC Beti-Wyn Jones, Pharmacist, Keele University Fujian Song, Senior Researcher, WMHTAC

Correspondence to:

Roger Gajraj at rjgagraj@yahoo.co.uk

Report number: 40

ISBN No: 0-7044-2410-X

© Copyright, West Midlands Health Technology Assessment Collaboration Department of Public Health and Epidemiology The University of Birmingham 2003. Expandable metal stents for inoperable oesophageal cancer

### West Midlands Health Technology Assessment Collaboration (WMHTAC)

The WMHTAC produces rapid systematic reviews about the effectiveness of health care interventions and technologies, in response to requests from West Midlands Health Authorities. Reviews take approximately 6 months and aim to give a timely and accurate analysis of the available evidence, with an economic analysis (usually a cost-utility analysis) of the intervention accompanied by a statement of the quality of the evidence.

### **Contributions of authors**

Roger Gajraj liaised with experts, searched and independently extracted data from the literature, critically appraised the effectiveness data, conducted the economic analysis and wrote the report. Beti-Wyn Jones also independently assessed study quality and extracted data from included studies. David Moore and Fujian Song provided advice and support at all stages of this work and commented on draft versions of the report.

### **Conflicts of interest**

This work has been undertaken by people funded by the NHS. The authors have received no funding from any sponsor in this work.

### Acknowledgements

We are very grateful to the following clinicians for providing advice about the topic and help with identifying unpublished research: Dr. Tim Bowling (Consultant Gastroenterologist), Prof. Jim Elder (Consultant Surgeon), Mr. Walford Gillison (retired Consultant Surgeon), Mr. A. Kubba (Consultant Surgeon), Dr. Ian Perry (Lecturer in Gastroenterology), Dr. Jon Shenfine (Surgical Research Fellow), Mr. Bob Spychal (Consultant Surgeon) and Mr. Robert Stuart (Consultant Surgeon). Suzanne Robinson provided advice on economic analysis methods. Prof. Jim Elder and Dr. Chris Hyde were external assessors of the report. Sangeeta Pal (Endoscopy Unit Deputy Manager) researched the unit cost of a few health care resources. Expandable metal stents for inoperable oesophageal cancer

# West Midlands Regional Evaluation Panel Recommendation:

The recommendation for the use of Expandable metal stents for inoperable oesophageal cancer was:

# Supported

The conclusions of the report showed that SEMS offer marginal benefits when compared to plastic tubes, and these benefits are associated with a small additional

cost.

# Anticipated expiry date: January 2004

- This report was completed in February 2003
- The searches were completed in August 2002

Expandable metal stents for inoperable oesophageal cancer

# CONTENTS

1.	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
2.	AIM OF THE REVIEW	3
3.	BACKGROUND	3
3	1 OESOPHAGEAL CANCER	3
	3.1.1 Anatomy and histology	3
	3.1.2 Risk factors for oesophageal cancer	3
	3.1.3 Prevalence and incidence	4
	3.1.4 Clinical presentation	5
	3.1.5 Diagnosis and assessment	5
	3.1.6 Management of oesophageal cancer	5
	3.1.7 Prognosis and mortality	8
3	2 LOCAL BACKGROUND	9
3	3 CURRENT SERVICE PROVISION	9
4.	EFFECTIVENESS	9
4	1 METHODS FOR REVIEWING EFFECTIVENESS	9
•	411 Search strategy	9
	41.2 Inclusion criteria	
	4.1.3 Data extraction and quality assessment strategy	.10
4	2 RESULTS	.10
-	4.2.1 Quantity and auality of available research	10
	4.2.2 Assessment of effectiveness	. 15
5.	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS	. 20
5	1 METHODS FOR ECONOMIC ANALYSIS	20
5	<i>Critical appraisal of published aconomic evaluations</i>	20
	Decision analysis	20
5	$2 \qquad \text{Economic analysis}$	20
5	5 2 1 Published aconomic avaluations	22
	5.2.1 Future economic evaluations	$\frac{22}{24}$
	5.2.2 Estimation of incremental benefits	$\frac{24}{24}$
	5.2.5 Estimation of her costs	$\frac{27}{20}$
	5.2.4 Sensitivity analysis	29
6	IMPLICATIONS FOR THE WEST MIDLANDS NHS	30
0.	INTERCETIONS FOR THE WEST WIDERINDS THIS	. 50
7.	DISCUSSION	. 30
7	1 MAIN RESULTS	. 30
	7.1.1 Efficacy of SEMS	30
	7.1.2 Cost-effectiveness of SEMS	30
7	2 LIMITATIONS	. 31
	7.2.1 Bias	31
	7.2.2 <i>Heterogeneity</i>	31
7	3 OUTCOMES	. 31
	731 Relief of dysphagia	31

REFEI	RENCES	
CONC	LUSIONS	
7.3.7	Cost-effectiveness	
7.3.6	Local SEMS provision	
7.3.5	Survival / mortality	
7.3.4	Quality of life (QoL)	
7.3.3	Duration of hospital stay	
7.3.2	Procedural complications	
	7.3.2	7.3.2 Procedural complications

# TABLES

TABLE 1 - CHARACTERISTICS OF INCLUDED STUDIES	12
TABLE 2 - QUALITY OF INCLUDED STUDIES	14
TABLE 3 - PUBLISHED ECONOMIC STUDIES COMPARING METAL AND PLASTIC	
OESOPHAGEAL STENTS	23
TABLE 4 - PRIMARY OUTCOMES FOLLOWING FOR INCREMENTAL BENEFIT ESTIMAT	ion24
TABLE 5 - RESOURCES AND COSTS FOR ENDOPROSTHESIS INSERTION	24
TABLE 6 - Resources and costs for management of non-fatal complications	25
TABLE 7 - RESOURCES AND COSTS FOR MANAGEMENT OF FATAL COMPLICATIONS	25
TABLE 8 - RESOURCES AND COSTS FOR MANAGEMENT OF DYSPHAGIA RECURRENCE	Е.26

# FIGURES

. 10
. 15
. 16
. 16
. 17
. 17
. 18
. 19
. 20
. 27
. 28
. 28

# 1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

#### Description of proposed service

The use of self-expanding metal stents (SEMS) for dysphagia relief in patients with inoperable oesophageal cancer is already established clinical practice. SEMS is a relatively costly device that has largely replaced the cheaper semi-rigid plastic tubes.

#### Epidemiology and background

Oesophageal cancer is the eighth commonest cancer in Britain and the fifth commonest cause of death from cancer. There are about 650 new cases each year in the West Midlands. The prognosis is poor with 5-year survival rates of 9%. About 200-250 endoprostheses are inserted every year for palliation of dysphagia in West Midlands residents. One in five West Midlands providers still use plastic tubes but do so on an occasional basis only.

#### Studies included in the review

Six small RCTs compared SEMS with plastic tubes. Considerable bias may have resulted in all six studies from differential treatment of randomised groups (greater oesophageal dilation of patients randomised to plastic tubes). The direction of evidence was in favour of SEMS.

#### Summary of benefits

The benefits of SEMS compared to plastic tubes were significantly lower (by 11%) major complications; significantly lower (9%) procedure-related mortality; 7% lower 30-day mortality; greater *initial* improvement in dysphagia; shorter hospitalisation; and 24 days longer survival. Quality of life was similar.

#### Costs

The average hospital cost of inserting a plastic tube is about £1,610; corresponding averages for covered SEMS are £2,220 and for uncovered SEMS £1,970. The use of SEMS costs the West Midlands secondary health care sector an extra £140,000 each year.

#### **Cost-effectiveness**

Covered SEMS cost on average £7,630 per life-year saved and about £880 for an added 1-point improvement in dysphagia score. Uncovered SEMS cost on average  $\pounds7,920$  per life-year saved and about £1,430 for an added 1-point improvement in dysphagia score.

#### Other implications

Substantially improved outcomes could possibly result if less oesophageal dilation was employed during insertion of plastic tubes. Conversely, the ease of insertion of SEMS could result in greater clinical and economic benefits in everyday practice compared to those observed in clinical trials.

#### Conclusions

There is good evidence that SEMS are cost-effective and fair evidence that they are superior to plastic stents.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ARIF- Aggressive Research Intelligence Facility DARE-Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effectiveness EBRT- external beam radiotherapy GI- gastro-intestinal GOJ- gastro-oesophageal junction HDU- high dependency unit HES- Hospital Episode Statistics ID- internal diameter ITT- intention to treat NHS EED- NHS Economic Evaluation Database QoL- quality of life RCT- randomised controlled trial SEMS- self-expanding metal stent UOS- upper oesophageal sphincter WMHTAC- West Midlands Health Technology Assessment Collaboration

# 2. Aim of the review

The aim of this review was to assess the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of selfexpanding metal stents (SEMS) compared to semi-rigid plastic tubes in patients with inoperable oesophageal cancer.

In 1998 commissioners from two of the West Midlands health region's previous District Health Authorities identified variations in oesophageal cancer management and requested assistance from ARIF to identify cost-effective interventions. There were no general reviews on the management but one systematic review assessed the role of chemotherapy.<sup>1</sup> There was also limited evidence from randomised controlled trials (RCTs) regarding the effectiveness of different interventions.

Much of the adverse impact on quality of life derives from the dysphagia produced by the tumour and a variety of palliative interventions, including endoprosthesis insertion, are used in patients who are not eligible for surgery. Self-expanding metallic stents (SEMS) have largely replaced the older plastic tubes for oesophageal stenting. SEMS are considerably more expensive than plastic tubes but this may be offset by a lower rate of complications with shorter hospitalisation and consequently lower overall costs. WMHTAC therefore decided to undertake a systematic review and economic evaluation of SEMS compared to plastic tubes for patients with inoperable oesophageal cancer.

# 3. Background

# 3.1 Oesophageal cancer

# 3.1.1 Anatomy and histology

The oesophagus, approximately 26cm long in adults, is the part of the gastrointestinal tract that extends from the oral cavity to the stomach. Squamous cell carcinoma predominates in the upper two-thirds of the oesophagus and adenocarcinoma arises in the lower third. The gastro-oesophageal junction (GOJ) comprises the most distal part of the oesophagus and the proximal part of the gastric cardia, the latter containing the cardiac sphincter which protects the oesophagus from regurgitation of gastric contents. Tumours arising in the GOJ have been subdivided into distal oesophageal adenocarcinoma, true carcinoma of the cardia and subcardial gastric cancer infiltrating the distal oesophagus,<sup>2</sup> but GOJ tumours are similar to those of the lower oesophagus and probably represent the same disease.<sup>3</sup> Metaplasia (Barrett's oesophagus) arises in the GOJ as a result presumably of gastric reflux and may progress histologically to dysplasia and then to adenocarcinoma.

# 3.1.2 Risk factors for oesophageal cancer

The two histological varieties of oesophageal cancer each possess different risk factors.

#### Squamous cell cancer

Tobacco smoking and excessive alcohol consumption act independently and synergistically to increase the risk for developing squamous cell oesophageal cancer.<sup>4</sup> Other risk factors include dietary zinc deficiency, preserved and pickled foods, human papillomavirus, certain rare inherited conditions such as Tylosis, untreated achalasia and coeliac disease.<sup>5,6</sup>

#### Adenocarcinoma

Oesophagitis caused by gastro-oesophageal reflux disease is one of the commonest medical conditions with 30% of adults in Western countries complaining of heartburn at least once per month.<sup>7</sup> Approximately 10% of patients with reflux-induced oesophagitis will develop metaplastic changes (Barrett's oesophagus).<sup>7</sup> Most or all cases of adenocarcinoma arise from areas of metaplasia; 2-5% of patients with Barrett's oesophagus will develop adenocarcinoma.<sup>5</sup>

Risk factors for malignant change of Barrett's metaplasia include male gender, increasing age, longer segments of metaplasia, severity and chronicity of reflux, white race, obesity, family history of gastric cancer, drug therapy (nitrates, benzodiazepines, anticholinergics and theophyllines), absence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection, cigarette smoking and low consumption of fruit and vegetables.<sup>5,8,9</sup>

# 3.1.3 Prevalence and incidence

#### Age and sex

Oesophageal cancer is the eighth most common cancer in the UK.<sup>5</sup> Incidence rates increase with age, peaking at 70-74 years in both men and women, with a male:female ratio of cases of 4:3.<sup>5</sup> The incidence rate (per 100,000/yr) of oesophageal cancer in England & Wales (1993-96 registrations) was 14.0 in men and 9.2 in women.<sup>10</sup>

#### Geographical distribution

There is greater geographical variation in world-wide incidence of oesophageal cancer than any other cancer.<sup>11</sup> It is also the eighth most common cancer world-wide, with 80% arising in developing countries.<sup>12</sup> Areas of high risk include Southern and Eastern Africa, China, Southern Asia and South America.<sup>12</sup> Striking differences between local areas of the same region and between different ethnic groups within regions suggest that the majority of cases could be prevented by addressing environmental and lifestyle factors.<sup>5,13</sup>

Among European countries British men have the second highest incidence of oesophageal cancer and British women, with rates more than nine times higher than Greek women, have the highest incidence.<sup>14</sup>

#### Ethnic variation

Black Americans have a greater risk of developing squamous cell oesophageal cancer than whites<sup>15</sup> but the reverse is true for adenocarcinoma.<sup>16</sup>

#### Trends

The incidence of oesophageal cancer in the UK is increasing, in contrast to that of other upper gastro-intestinal (stomach and pancreas) malignancies.<sup>9</sup> While small increases<sup>17</sup> or decreases<sup>18</sup> have been reported for squamous cell cancer, many countries all report large increases for adenocarcinoma.<sup>17-23</sup> Particularly rapid

increases have occurred for GOJ adenocarcinomas<sup>18,24</sup> due to increased prevalence of multiple risk factors<sup>18,25-27</sup> or to changes in diagnosis and/or coding of GOJ tumours.<sup>28,29</sup>

# 3.1.4 Clinical presentation

Dysphagia is the commonest symptom first recognised by patients and is present in 75% of cases.<sup>5</sup> However, the oesophagus is a distensable organ and 50% of the luminal diameter may become compromised before patients perceive a problem.<sup>30</sup> Therefore, patients present late and the prognosis is consequently very poor.<sup>9,30</sup> Other common symptoms include dyspepsia, weight loss, vomiting, indigestion and a persistent cough.<sup>5,13</sup>

# 3.1.5 Diagnosis and assessment

### Diagnosis

Oesophago-gastroscopy is now the main diagnostic investigation used, since a histopathological specimen can be obtained simultaneously to confirm the diagnosis and to direct the choice of surgical approach and lymph node clearance.<sup>5</sup> Barium swallow may be associated with a higher frequency of false positives and false negatives than endoscopy,<sup>31,32</sup> but is the first choice for identifying very proximal tumours, is well tolerated and still used commonly.<sup>5</sup>

### Assessment

After confirming the diagnosis, staging of the tumour is necessary to assist in determining prognosis and whether radical interventions, including surgery, are indicated. The TNM classification is recommended and is based on the depth of tumour (T), regional lymph node involvement (N) and distant metastases (M).<sup>33</sup> Computerised tomography (CT) scans of the abdomen are necessary for detecting hepatic metastases.<sup>5</sup> Endoscopic ultrasound is the investigation of choice to assess local thoracic spread (the T stage) and operability of the tumour<sup>5,34</sup> and complements CT scans in assessing regional lymph node involvement.<sup>35</sup> Peritoneal involvement by GOJ tumours can be determined by laparoscopy.<sup>5</sup> More recent developments include positron emission tomography which is superior to CT scans in assessing regional lymph node involvement, and minimally invasive staging procedures such as lymph node biopsy using endoscopically guided ultrasonography.<sup>35</sup> The role of magnetic resonance imaging in the staging of oesophageal tumours is limited.<sup>35</sup>

# 3.1.6 Management of oesophageal cancer

Treatment is based on the stage of disease at presentation and the patient's general level of fitness. Patients with localised disease may be offered radical interventions (oesophagectomy, chemo-radiotherapy or multi-modality treatment involving chemo-radiotherapy followed by surgery) which offer the hope of a cure or long-term survival.<sup>13</sup> About two-thirds of patients have advanced disease at diagnosis unsuitable for radical interventions and most require palliative interventions for dysphagia.

### Radical interventions

### Surgery

Surgery is regarded widely as the only intervention that offers any realistic hope of a cure,<sup>5,13</sup> probably only for the very few patients in whom all gross disease can be removed en bloc with an envelope of normal tissue.<sup>35</sup> A distinction should therefore

be made between *curability* and *resectability* (i.e. where surgery or other radical intervention offers the hope of long-term survival).<sup>35</sup> Lesions without metastatic spread or mediastinal invasion are generally treated with oesophagectomy,<sup>36</sup> although the aggressiveness of the individual surgeon determines partially the decision to operate.<sup>35</sup>

Reductions in peri-operative mortality has been postulated as the reason for improving survival rates between 1971-90.<sup>5</sup> Neoadjuvant (preoperative) chemotherapy (Medical Research Council trial OEO2)<sup>9</sup> and adjuvant chemo-radiotherapy (in adenocarcinoma of the GOJ)<sup>37</sup> have been shown to improve survival after potentially curative surgery. It is now generally accepted that specialist clinicians achieve better outcomes<sup>5,13</sup> and there is evidence also of lower peri-operative mortality in hospitals which deal with large volumes.<sup>38,39</sup>

#### Chemo-radiotherapy

National guidance recommends chemo-radiotherapy as an alternative to or combined with surgery for selected patients with early stage tumours.<sup>13</sup> Debate also continues surrounding the relative effectiveness of radiotherapy alone versus surgery alone in localised disease<sup>40,41</sup> with the result that clinical opinion determines treatment selection.<sup>35</sup> There have been no published RCTs comparing chemo-radiotherapy alone with surgery alone and the only RCT comparing surgery and radiotherapy was abandoned because of poor recruitment.<sup>42</sup>

#### Palliative interventions

Once indicated, palliative intervention is directed mainly at relieving dysphagia, which causes not only patient distress but exacerbates the malnutrition that accompanies cancer and terminal illness.<sup>43</sup> Palliation should also aim to minimise hospital stay (particularly in view of a life expectancy of only a few months), relieve pain, eliminate reflux and regurgitation and prevent aspiration.<sup>30</sup> *Ideally* the approach should be rapidly effective, safe and well tolerated and result in tumour bulk reduction and prolongation of survival.

Palliative interventions are numerous.<sup>30,44</sup> The most effective means of achieving palliation is still debated and continues to be a challenge to clinicians.<sup>45,46</sup> A recent narrative review on palliative options suggested that treatment should be individualised with the main options being SEMS, laser or photodynamic therapy, and depending on tumour stage and histopathology, these procedures may be combined with chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy.<sup>30</sup>

#### Palliative surgery

Until recently surgery was also considered to provide the most effective palliation of dysphagia. However, palliative surgery was associated with a high frequency of morbidity (20-60%) and mortality (10-33%),<sup>44,47</sup> does not improve survival,<sup>48</sup> is associated with deteriorating quality of life despite improved dysphagia<sup>49</sup> and many patients are not candidates for surgery because of underlying medical problems.<sup>50</sup> Therefore palliative surgery is NOT recommended for palliation of dysphagia.<sup>13</sup>

Oesophageal endoprostheses

Endoluminal oesophageal prostheses have been used to relieve dysphagia in patients with oesophageal cancer for 100 years.<sup>30</sup> The semi-rigid plastic Atkinson tube was introduced in 1977<sup>51</sup> and became very popular as it offered the important advantage of endoscopic placement, obviating the need for insertion at laparotomy.<sup>30</sup> Several other varieties of plastic endoprostheses are now in clinical use including the Wilson-Cook,<sup>52,53</sup> Procter Livingstone,<sup>54</sup> and Celestin.<sup>55</sup> However, most clinicians place these devices after peroral dilation of the oesophagus, and both procedures (dilation and placement of semi-rigid devices) are associated with a significant risk of oesophageal perforation.<sup>46</sup> Nowadays only few centres routinely use plastic tubes, especially for patients with stenoses in the straight middle part of the oesophagus.<sup>30</sup>

SEMS were first produced in 1983<sup>56</sup> and have become popular because of their ease of insertion and relative safety. They are placed in the oesophagus in a compressed state within disposable delivery systems. The small external diameter of the delivery mechanism makes insertion easier and reduces the need for dilation of the oesophagus, both of which lessen the risk of perforation. Once deployed, the delivery mechanism is removed and the SEMS expands in the oesophagus. The greater internal diameter (compared to plastic tubes) of the expanded SEMS allows potentially greater relief of dysphagia and the possibility for use as a single therapy for the remainder of the patient's life.<sup>30</sup> The expanded device may also cause pressure necrosis of the tumour in the oesophageal wall.<sup>57</sup> The majority of SEMS are placed under sedation using endoscopy and fluoroscopy.<sup>57</sup>

There are gaps in the cylindrical walls of 'uncovered' SEMS as the metal is arranged in rings or as a wire mesh. Some varieties of SEMS are 'covered' (coated) to prevent ingrowth of tumour into the lumen of the device. Several SEMS are now available on the market with newer and improved designs continuing to emerge. Wallstents (Schneider AG, Bulach, Switzerland) are made of stainless steel and cobalt tubular mesh and may be uncovered, or covered with a polyurethane coat. Gianturco Z stents (Wilson-Cook Europe, Bjaeverskov, Denmark) are similar to Wallstents but possess a zig-zag configuration, are all coated with silicone or polyethylene and have barbs in the middle to prevent migration. The Ultraflex stent (Microinvasive / Boston Scientific Corp., Watertown, USA) is a knitted nitinol wire tube, the gelatin coating of the uncovered form dissolving when contact with oesophageal secretions and body temperature is made. Choice of SEMS seems random among clinicians.<sup>57</sup>

A national survey of a random sample of Acute NHS Trusts in England (Appendix 1) indicated that the vast majority of providers mainly use SEMS rather than plastic tubes for oesophageal stenting. Only 11% of providers used plastic tubes more than occasionally. However, SEMS and their disposable delivery systems are expensive. Additionally, the high rate of repeat interventions for late complications such as tumour ingrowth (uncovered stents), stent displacement (covered stents) and obstruction (due to stent compression or tumour overgrowth at either end)<sup>46</sup> have led some to recommend restricting their use.<sup>43</sup>

#### Nd-YAG Laser

Laser therapy is a well-established, relatively safe and rapidly effective method of palliation for dysphagia due to oesophageal cancer.<sup>44,58</sup> The Nd-YAG laser is used to destroy (by thermal ablation) lesions obstructing the oesophageal lumen.<sup>30</sup> Laser

therapy can accurately target malignant tissue, minimising damage to surrounding tissue, potentially shortening the recovery period.<sup>59</sup> However recurrent dysphagia is a problem necessitating repeated treatment sessions.<sup>44</sup> Laser therapy has been advocated especially for non-circumferential high tumours growing into the oesophageal lumen in which insertion of stents is difficult.<sup>60</sup>

#### Chemotherapy

The role of neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients with localised disease has been discussed above. In patients with advanced disease survival advantages<sup>61-63</sup> and improved quality of life<sup>62,64</sup> have been demonstrated when different chemotherapy regimens were compared. Chemotherapy did not improve survival when compared with supportive care (some patients having had surgery),<sup>65</sup> plastic endoprostheses,<sup>66</sup> no treatment (in patients with plastic endoprostheses) or radiotherapy.<sup>67</sup> National guidance recommends that epirubicin/cisplatin/fluorouracil regimens should be available for patients with advanced oesophageal cancer.<sup>13</sup>

#### Radiotherapy

High dose palliative external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) compared to interventions that did not include radiotherapy has been shown to significantly improve survival in patients with locally advanced disease<sup>68</sup> but not at lower doses in patients with metastatic disease.<sup>67,69,70</sup> Studies tended to show that the addition of EBRT improved initial relief of dysphagia<sup>67,69,71</sup> and prolonged the time to disease progression<sup>68,69</sup> but reporting of toxicity was not comprehensive and quality of life was not assessed.

A dose-response effect on survival has been demonstrated with intraluminal radiotherapy (brachytherapy) in patients with advanced disease.<sup>72</sup> Dysphagia-free interval (but not survival) was also prolonged in patients who received brachytherapy combined with laser therapy compared to those who received laser therapy alone.<sup>73,74</sup> Dysphagia relief and survival was similar when brachytherapy alone was compared with laser therapy alone.<sup>75</sup> It is recommended that brachytherapy be considered in patients for whom definitive chemo-radiotherapy is not appropriate.<sup>13</sup>

### Chemo-radiotherapy

Chemo-radiation compared to radiotherapy alone has been shown to prolong survival in patients with advanced disease in some studies<sup>76,77</sup> but not in others.<sup>78-80</sup>

# 3.1.7 Prognosis and mortality

Oesophageal cancer, in common with other upper gastro-intestinal (GI) cancers, is associated with late presentation and poor prognosis.<sup>5</sup> Most people with oesophageal cancer survive for only a few months after diagnosis. The overall results of treatment continue to be dismal with an overall one-year survival rate of 27% and five-year survival of 9%.<sup>81</sup> Of those having potentially curative treatment, 40% will not survive the first year and 70% will not survive 5 years.<sup>45</sup>

Oesophageal cancer causes 5% of all cancer deaths in the UK making it the fifth most common cause of death from cancer. In 1997 there were 5,855 deaths in England and Wales from oesophageal cancer.<sup>82</sup> The mortality rate (per 100,000/yr) was 13.6 in men and 8.4 in women.<sup>82</sup>

# 3.2 Local background

The incidence of oesophageal cancer in the West Midlands<sup>\*</sup> was similar to England & Wales with crude incidence rates per 100,000 of 14.75 in males and 9.95 in females in the year 2000. This corresponds to 390 male cases and 268 female cases. Mortality rates (per 100,000/yr) were also similar to the national average (13.7 in men and 8.9 in women).

# 3.3 Current service provision

A second survey indicated a similar proportion of West Midlands health providers (19% vs. 21% nationally) still using plastic tubes (Appendix 2). However, West Midlands health providers who still use plastic tubes, use them on an occasional basis only (compared to 11% of English providers who used plastic tubes more than occasionally.)

Analysis of Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) revealed that 20 Acute Trusts in the West Midlands provide prosthesis insertion services for patients with oesophageal cancer (Appendix 3). In 1999/2000 West Midlands residents received 232 stents (range 1-24; median 6.5; 2 inserted by non- West Midlands health providers). This gives a rate of one stent for every 2.8 cases of oesophageal cancer.

# 4. Effectiveness

# 4.1 Methods for reviewing effectiveness

### 4.1.1 Search strategy

The systematic review addressed a focused question with the following elements:

*Population-* inoperable oesophageal cancer; *Intervention-* SEMS; *Comparator-* plastic tubes; *Outcomes-* any.

A broad comprehensive search strategy was used to identify any potentially relevant literature on SEMS in oesophageal cancer. The MEDLINE, EMBASE and CancerLit electronic databases were searched. Published and unpublished studies were also identified from the Cochrane Library Controlled Clinical Trials Register, National Research Register, Conference abstracts, contacts with experts and citation checking of all articles obtained. Sources were searched from 1980 onwards, as the first SEMS was produced in 1983. No language or age restrictions were applied. The search was completed in August 2002. Appendix 4 lists the combinations of terms used in the search strategy.

# 4.1.2 Inclusion criteria

Studies were included if the study design was a randomised or pseudo-randomised controlled trial comparing SEMS with plastic tubes. The majority (>50%) of patients

<sup>\*</sup> Year 2000 data provided by the West Midlands Cancer Intelligence Unit

had inoperable oesophageal cancer in included studies. No restrictions were placed on the types of outcome(s) reported. Inclusion and exclusion decisions were made independently by two reviewers.

# 4.1.3 Data extraction and quality assessment strategy

Two reviewers used a standardised data extraction proforma with a quality checklist to independently extract data from and analyse the internal validity of included studies.

# 4.2 Results

### 4.2.1 Quantity and quality of available research

### Number of studies identified

Figure 1 describes the log of studies identified.

### Figure 1 - Outcome log of studies identified



#### **Duplicates**

The papers by Alfke and others<sup>87</sup> and Knyrim and others<sup>89</sup> are almost certainly duplicates but attempts to contact the authors to confirm this were unsuccessful. The foreign language duplicate<sup>87</sup> is not described in this report.

#### **Excluded studies**

There were 37 studies excluded because they were case series/reports,<sup>90-102</sup> retrospective studies,<sup>103-106</sup> had no SEMS group,<sup>66,105-116</sup> were not randomised/pseudo-randomised,<sup>49,108,111,113,115,117-120</sup> or were not clinical trials.<sup>121,122</sup>

Three RCTs were excluded because the comparators did not include plastic tubes; two (possible duplicates) compared covered SEMS, uncovered SEMS and laser therapy<sup>123,124</sup> and one study compared SEMS to combined therapy with laser and radiation.<sup>125</sup> Two of the foreign language studies were not translated but their English abstracts and year of publication suggest that they are almost certainly not suitable for inclusion.<sup>126,127</sup>

#### **Study characteristics**

Table 1 tabulates the characteristics of included studies.

#### **Population**

All of the studies except one<sup>84</sup> were conducted in Europe. In all six studies the majority of patients had inoperable oesophageal cancer. Two studies<sup>85,89</sup> included a few patients (<13%) with mediastinal malignancies producing external compression of the oesophagus and three studies included patients with cardial cancers.<sup>83,86,89</sup> Four studies excluded patients with oesophago-respiratory fistulae and proximal tumours,<sup>83,86,88,89</sup> one of these also excluded patients with cardial cancer<sup>88</sup> while two of these four studies also excluded patients based on general health status.<sup>86,89</sup> One study was restricted to only cases with concentric malignancies in which there was still some degree of oesophageal luminal patency<sup>85</sup> while another was limited to patients with squamous cell malignancies.<sup>84</sup>

#### Intervention

The six studies used a variety of SEMS including uncovered Wallstents,<sup>89</sup> uncovered Ultraflex,<sup>88</sup> covered Wallstents,<sup>83,84</sup> covered modified Gianturco<sup>85</sup> and covered Cook-Z.<sup>86</sup>

#### **Comparator**

Different plastic endoprostheses were used including Wilson-Cook,<sup>83,88,89</sup> Procter Livingstone,<sup>84</sup> Atkinson<sup>85</sup> and Celestin.<sup>86</sup>

#### Quality

The six included studies were of similar quality (Table 2). All of the studies were RCTs but the method of randomisation was not described in one study.<sup>85</sup> They were all small studies, randomised groups ranging in size from 15-38 patients and including a total of 277 patients. Sample size calculation to explain what the studies were powered to detect was not reported in any study; however, one study explained that this was due to the absence of robust clinical data on which to base a sample size estimation.<sup>83</sup>

### Table 1 - Characteristics of included studies

Study	Country	Intervention	Median/	Ν	%	cervical	%	%	Exclusion criteria	Inclusion criteria
			Mean		oesoph/	tumour	adeno-	squam		
			age		cardial		са	cell ca		
					са					
Knyrim <sup>89</sup>	Germany	Uncov'd Wallstent	65	21	90		38	52	Tumour 2cm from UOS	Inoperable
		Wilson-Cook	69	21	95		43	52	Karnofsky score<30	
									Fistula	
DePalma <sup>88</sup>	Italy	Uncov'd Ultraflex	68	19	100				Cervical tumour	Oesoph thoracic ca
		Wilson-Cook	69	20	100				Cardial tumor	Recurrence in inop case
									Fistula	
O'Donnell <sup>83</sup>	Scotland	Cov'd Wallstent	73	25	64 (100)		48	52	Tumour 2cm from UOS	Inoperable
		Wilson-Cook	72	25	52 (100)		56	40	No histology	> 35yr
									confirmation	-
									Fistula	
Sanyika <sup>84</sup>	South Africa	Cov'd Wallstent		20	100			100		Inoperable
-		Procter Livingstone		20	100			100		Histology confirmatn
Roseveare <sup>85</sup>	England	Cov'd Gianturco mod	71	15	80		60	20		Inoperable
	-	Atkinson	72	16	94		75	19		Concentric tumour
										Diameter stent-gastros
Siersema <sup>86</sup>	Netherlands	Cov'd Cook-Z	68	37	70 (100)		68	32	Tumour 5cm from UOS	Inoperable
		Celestin	65	38	74 (100)		63	34	Unfit for GA	Recurrence post radiatn
					. ,				Fistula	

Considerable bias in all six studies may have resulted from differential treatment of the randomised groups. SEMS and plastic tubes were the interventions being compared. A greater degree of oesophageal dilation was undertaken in patients randomised to treatment with plastic tubes. Therefore, it could be considered that the studies did not compare SEMS with plastic tubes, but that SEMS with or without minimal oesophageal dilation was being compared to plastic tubes plus extensive oesophageal dilation. This could have resulted in a greater number of dangerous complications (perforation and haemorrhage) that impact on important outcomes (early mortality, survival and duration of hospital stay) among patients with plastic tubes. If routine vigorous oesophageal dilation is an essential part of the procedure for inserting plastic tubes then the groups *were* treated equally apart from the interventions (procedures) being compared. Differential treatment of groups may have occurred also in one study in which five SEMS patients received chemotherapy and one patient randomised to treatment with a plastic tube received radiotherapy.<sup>83</sup> Appendix 5 tabulates the co-interventions employed in the included studies.

No study reported whether those who assessed outcome were unaware of the treatment group to which patients were randomised. However, this lack of observer blinding is unlikely to have resulted in substantial bias since most outcomes (e.g. dysphagia score, survival, duration of hospitalisation and oesophageal perforation) were objective measures not prone to inter-observer variability in measurement.

Only one study<sup>83</sup> reported concealed randomisation, resulting in a JADAD score (a numerical indication of the internal validity) of three for that study compared to scores of two for the other five studies. Randomised groups were not comparable at baseline in two studies.<sup>83,84</sup> Only one study reported blinding of patients.<sup>85</sup> There was differential follow-up of randomised groups in one study.<sup>88</sup> Two studies<sup>85,88</sup> did not employ an 'intention to treat' (ITT) analysis. However it is likely that an ITT analysis of these two studies would have resulted in similar findings because only few patients were not analysed in the groups to which they were randomised. The reporting of results was inadequate in two studies.<sup>84,88</sup> Numbers lost to follow-up were reported or deducible in all six studies. It was not reported who assessed outcome in three studies.<sup>84,88,89</sup>

#### Table 2 - Quality of included studies

(rand: randomisation; conc: concealed; diff: differential; LTF: loss to follow-up; ITT: intention to treat; inadeq: inadequate; Y: yes; CT: can't tell; onc: oncology; blank = no)

Study	Jadad score	Rand method not stated	Conc rand	Patients blind	Assessors blind	Groups not comp- arable	Diff follow -up	LTF reported	No ITT	Inadeq results	Who assessed outcome
Knyrim et al (1993)	2		СТ		СТ			Y			СТ
DePalma et al (1996)	2		СТ		СТ		Y	Y	Y	Y	СТ
O'Donnell et al (2002)	3		Y		СТ	Y		Y			nurse researcher
Sanyika et al (1999)	2		СТ		СТ	СТ		Y		Y	СТ
Roseveare et al (1998)	2	Y	СТ	Y	СТ			Y	Y		nurse specialist
Siersema et al (1998)	2		СТ		СТ			Y			authors-baseline onc nurse/GP phone

#### 4.2.2 Assessment of effectiveness

#### **Technical success**

The technical success (Figure 2) of the intervention was similar for SEMS (95-100%) and plastic tubes (90-100%).

# Figure 2 - Technical success of insertion: SEMS vs plastic tubes

#### Comparison: 01 SEMS vs plastic tubes Outcome: 01 technical success SEMS Plastic tubes RR RR (95%Cl Fixed) (95%Cl Fixed) Study n/N n/N 36/37 38/38 0.97[0.92,1.03] Siersema O'Donnell 25/25 24/25 1.04[0.96.1.13] 1.05[0.95.1.16] 20/21 Knyrim 21/21 DePalma 18/19 18/201.05[0.88,1.26] Roseveare 15/15 15/16 1.07[0.94,1.21] 1.03[0.98,1.07] Total(95%Cl) 115/117 115/120 Test for heterogeneity chi-square=4.50 df=4 p=0.34 Test for overall effect z=1.11 p=0.3 1.5 ż Favours plastic tube Favours SBMS

#### **Relief of dysphagia**

Only one study showed significantly greater improvement in dysphagia (*P*=0.04) with SEMS compared to plastic tubes (but only at one week and not at six weeks).<sup>85</sup> All SEMS patients in that study had the *SEMS* dilated to 20mm after insertion to ensure adequate expansion of the device.<sup>85</sup> Dilation of SEMS post-insertion was performed in only one other study but only to a diameter of 12mm.<sup>88</sup> In all studies except one<sup>89</sup> there was a trend for greater improvement in dysphagia in patients with SEMS. The internal diameter (ID) of SEMS used ranged from 16-25mm (when expanded maximally) compared to an ID of 12mm for plastic tubes.

#### **Dysphagia recurrence**

Most studies reported device migration, ingrowth and overgrowth of tumour, food bolus impaction and gastro-respiratory fistula formation as the complications that required re-intervention for recurrence of dysphagia. The frequency of dysphagia recurrence (and life-threatening complications) was reported either as the absolute number of occurrences or as the number of patients affected (or both). There was no significant difference between the groups (Figure 3).

Study	SEMS n/N	Plastic tubes n/N	; RR (95%Cl Fixed)	RR (95%Cl Fixed)
Sanyika	2/20	8/20		0.25[0.06,1.03]
O'Donnell	14 / 25	17/25	-89	0.82[0.53,1.28]
DePalma	6/19	7/20		0.90[0.37,2.20]
Knyrim	10 / 21	9/21	_ <b>a</b>	1.11[0.57,2.17]
Siersema	13/37	11/38	<b>n_</b>	1.21[0.63,2.36]
Roseveare	4/15	3/16	<u>a</u>	1.42[0.38,5.33]
/otal(95%Cl)	49 / 137	55/140	•	0.91[0.67,1.22]
fest for heterogeneity ch	i-square=4.89 df=5 p=0.43	3		
fest for overall effect z=	-0.65 p=0.5			
			.01 .1 1 1	io 100
			Favours SBMS Favours	plastic tube

#### Figure 3 - Dysphagia recurrence: SEMS vs plastic tubes

The following frequencies were calculated from the absolute number of occurrences related to the number of patients randomised. This would underestimate the frequencies in studies that reported only the number of patients affected, but between-group comparisons within individual studies would still be valid.

#### Figure 4 - Device migration: covered SEMS vs plastic tubes

Comparison: 01 SEI Outcome: 03 dev	MS vs plastic tubes vice migration SEMS	Plastic tube	es	R	R	RR
Study	n/N	n/N		(95%CI	Fixed)	(95%Cl Fixed)
Sanyika	1/20	6/20			-	0.17[0.02,1.26]
O'Donnell	3/25	6/25			_	0.50[0.14,1.78]
Roseveare	1/15	2/16				0.53[0.05,5.29]
Siersema	3/37	3/38		6	<b></b>	1.03[0.22,4.77]
Total(95%Cl)	8/97	17/99		-		0.48[0.22,1.05]
Test for heterogeneity chi	-square=2.01 df=3 p=0.	57				
Test for overall effect z=	-1.83 p=0.07					
			.01	.1 1	10	100
			Favours	SEMS	Favours pla	stic tube

No uncovered SEMS migrated (Figure 4). The frequency of covered SEMS migration (5-35%) tended to be marginally lower than that for plastic tubes (10-30%) in individual studies. Tumour ingrowth did not occur in patients with plastic tubes (but occurred in patients randomised to plastic tubes who received an alternative intervention<sup>83,89</sup>). Only one of the four studies that used covered SEMS reported tumour ingrowth (12%) into the device.<sup>83</sup>

Outcome: 04 foo	d impaction SEMS	Plastic tubes	s RR	RR
Study	n/N	n/N	(95%CI Fixe	d) (95%Cl Fixed)
O'Donnell	0/25	5/25	8	0.09[0.01,1.56]
Sanyika	0/20	1 / 20		- 0.33[0.01,7.72]
Siersema	1/37	2/38	<b>e</b>	0.51[0.05,5.42]
DePalma	4/19	4 / 20	<b>_</b>	1.05[0.31,3.62]
Roseveare	1/15	1/16		
Knyrim	3 / 21	2/21		- 1.50[0.28,8.08]
otal(95%Cl)	9/137	15/140	-	0.64[0.30,1.35]
est for heterogeneity chi	i-square=3.75 df=5 p=0	.59		
est for overall effect z=	-1.17 p=0.2			
			001 .02 1	50 1000
			Favours SBMS Far	vours plastic tube

#### Figure 5 - Food impaction: SEMS vs plastic tubes

The frequency of tumour ingrowth was 11-14% in groups randomised to uncovered SEMS.<sup>88,89</sup> The frequency of tumour overgrowth (0-24% vs 0-20%) and fistula formation (3-10% vs 0-5%) tended to be marginally higher for SEMS than for plastic tubes in individual studies. Food bolus impaction (Figure 5) occurred with similar frequency among patients with SEMS (0-21%) and plastic tubes (5-20%). One study reported 'other' causes of dysphagia recurrence in one patient (4%) of each group<sup>83</sup> and dysphagia recurred due to fracture of one plastic tube (3%) in another study.<sup>86</sup> When added together, the frequency of all causes of dysphagia recurrence was similar among patients with SEMS and those with plastic tubes.

#### **Procedural complications**

Most studies reported perforation, haemorrhage and pulmonary aspiration as the procedure-related complications that were life-threatening. Figure 6 compares the risk of perforation and haemorrhage (which could also be due to oesophageal dilation) for the two groups.

#### Figure 6 - Life-threatening procedure-related complications

Comparison: 01 SEI Outcome: 05 cm	MS vs plastic tubes x (perf/haem)	;		
Study	SEMS n/N	Plastic tubes n/N	RR (95%Cl Fix	RR (95%Cl Fixed)
Knyrim	0/21	4 / 21		0.11[0.01,1.94]
Sanyika	0/20	4 / 20	<b>a</b>	0.11[0.01,1.94]
DePalma	0/19	4/20	<b>a</b>	0.12[0.01,2.03]
Roseveare	0/15	1/16	<b>-</b>	0.35[0.02,8.08]
Siersema	5/37	9/38	-89-	0.57[0.21,1.54]
O'Donnell	2/25	0/25		<b></b> 5.00[0.25,99.17]
Total(95%Cl)	7/137	22/140	•	0.40[0.19,0.81]
Test for heterogeneity chi	-square=5.51 df=5 p=C	).36		
Test for overall effect z=-	2.55 p=0.01			
		.00	1 .02 1	50 1000 Faxours plactic tubo

There was a lower frequency of perforation among patients who received SEMS (0-3%) compared to those given rigid tubes (6-15%) in five of the six studies.<sup>84-86,88,89</sup> In these five studies the oesophagus was dilated to a diameter of only 0-12mm in SEMS patients (in one study the *SEMS* were dilated to 20mm after insertion<sup>85</sup>), compared to a diameter of 17-25mm in patients given rigid tubes. In the only study that reported a higher frequency of perforation among the SEMS group (4 vs 0%) there was less disparity between the degree of oesophageal dilation among SEMS patients (six patients dilated to 12mm) compared to patients with plastic tubes (dilation to a mean diameter of 15mm in most patients).<sup>83</sup>

Comparison: 01 SE Outcome: 06 pro	MS vs plastic tubes ocedure mortality SEMS	Plastic tube	R	R	RR
Study	n/N	n/N	(95%Cl	Fixed)	(95%Cl Fixed)
Knyrim	0/21	3/21			0.14[0.01,2.61]
DePalma	0/19	3/20			0.15[0.01,2.72]
Siersema	1/37	4/38		_	0.26[0.03,2.19]
Roseveare	1/15	3/16			0.36[0.04,3.05]
× O'Donnell	0/25	0/25			Not Estimable
< Sanyika	0/20	0/20			Not Estimable
otal(95%Cl)	2/137	13/140	-		0.22[0.07,0.75]
fest for heterogeneity chi	-square=0.36 df=3 p=0.9	95			
Fest for overall effect z=	-2.44 p=0.01				
		.0	01 .02 1	50	1000
			Favours SBMS	Favours plas	tic tube

#### Figure 7 - Procedure-related mortality: SEMS vs plastic tubes

Haemorrhage also tended to be less common among the SEMS group but the differences were small. The frequency of pulmonary aspiration was similar (0-16% among SEMS vs 0-12% among plastic tubes) but could be related more to anaesthesia and monitoring of patients than to the type of oesophageal endoprosthesis used. Procedure-related mortality (Figure 7) also tended to be lower among patients given SEMS (0-7%) compared to plastic tubes (0-19%) and the difference was reported as statistically significant in one study.<sup>88</sup>

#### **Duration of hospital stay**

Initial hospitalisation was shorter for SEMS patients in all studies that reported this outcome and ranged from a mean or median of 1-4.3 days for SEMS patients and 3-10 days for patients with plastic tubes.<sup>84-86,89</sup> The difference was statistically significant in two studies.<sup>85,86</sup> Duration of hospitalisation for treatment of complications or dysphagia recurrence was insignificantly shorter for SEMS patients in the two studies that reported this outcome.<sup>83,89</sup> Two studies<sup>85,89</sup> reported total length of hospitalisation and this outcome was shorter for SEMS patients in both studies, achieving statistical significance in one.<sup>89</sup>

### Quality of life

Three studies reported either quality of life (QoL)<sup>83,85</sup> or general health status<sup>89</sup> outcomes. One study used a cancer-specific (European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer- EORTC) measure of QoL with an oesophageal cancer-specific module.<sup>83</sup> Another study used the Nottingham Health Profile and Spitzer QoL index.<sup>85</sup>

The Karnofsky score was measured in one trial.<sup>89</sup> No study discovered significant differences between SEMS and plastic tubes.

Study	SEMS n/N	Plastic tube n/N	RR (95%Cl Fixed)	RR (95%Cl Fixed)
Knyrim	3/21	6/21		0.50[0.14,1.74]
Roseveare	5/15	8/16	<b>B</b>	0.67[0.28,1.59]
Siersema	8/37	10/38	B	0.82[0.36,1.85]
O'Donnell	5/25	6/25	<b>G</b>	0.83[0.29,2.38]
fotal(95%Cl)	21/98	30/100		0.72[0.45,1.16]
fest for heterogeneity chi-	square=0.53 df=3 p=0	.91		
fest for overall effect z=-	1.36 p=0.17			

#### Figure 8 - 30-day mortality: SEMS vs plastic tubes

#### **Survival / mortality**

Survival was reported in five studies.<sup>83,85,86,88,89</sup> The mean or median survival ranged from 69-198 days for SEMS patients and 41-186 days for patients with plastic tubes. Apart from one study,<sup>86</sup> survival tended to be longer among SEMS patients. However, only one study found a statistically significant improvement in survival for SEMS patients.<sup>85</sup> Survival did not appear to be related to serious complications or procedure-related mortality, i.e. studies with the biggest apparent differences in complications and procedure-related mortality had similar survival rates for patients with SEMS and plastic tubes. Thirty-day mortality (Figure 8) was similar among patients with SEMS and those with plastic tubes in the four studies that reported this outcome.<sup>83,85,86,89</sup>

# 5. Economic analysis

With ever increasing demands on limited resources, information is required not only about the effectiveness of an intervention but also about its efficiency. The *efficiency* of an intervention measures its effect in relation to resources consumed<sup>128</sup> and is therefore a measure of its worth in comparison with an alternative use of the resources. *Economic evaluations*, which use analytical techniques to define resource allocation choices,<sup>129</sup> help determine efficiency. Economic evaluations relate (clinical) outcomes of competing interventions to the resources (cost) they consume.

# 5.1 Methods for economic analysis

### 5.1.1 Critical appraisal of published economic evaluations

MEDLINE was searched using an amplified search strategy to identify economic analyses of SEMS in oesophageal cancer. Other web-based reference sources (DARE and NHS EED) were also searched. Identified studies were appraised critically using published guidelines.<sup>130</sup> Economic data from the studies included in the systematic review were also considered.

# 5.1.2 Decision analysis

Decision analytic frameworks can assist economic evaluations when there is inadequate information on costs and outcomes.<sup>131</sup> Decision analysis is the application of explicit quantitative methods to analyse decisions under conditions of uncertainty, allowing comparison of the expected consequences of pursuing different strategies.<sup>132</sup>

### Figure 9 - Decision analysis to model costs



The decision tree was constructed as follows (Figure 9). Decisions and outcomes were represented in order, with earlier events on the left. Alternate intervention pathways followed square nodes, which represented the decision points. Round nodes represented the points at which outcomes occurred by chance (the sum of probabilities of all possible outcomes following a chance node is always one). The utility was measured in terms of the cost of an entire pathway and each terminal outcome node was represented by a triangle. Roll-back calculations (multiplying probabilities and cost) working from terminal nodes to decision nodes (right to left) allowed an evaluation of the cost of individual intervention choices.

#### Study design

An incremental cost-effectiveness analysis from the viewpoint of the NHS (hospital costs only) was conducted to compare metal with plastic stents for the palliation of malignant dysphagia. The information required for modelling costs and outcomes was obtained from the following sources.

#### Effectiveness/clinical outcomes

Clinical outcome probabilities and effectiveness data were obtained from the results of the RCTs included in the systematic review.<sup>83-86,88,89</sup> The primary outcomes considered for the cost-effectiveness analysis were survival and relief of dysphagia.

#### Costs and resources

The resources involved in each decision pathway were determined from a survey of local providers (Appendix 2), from the included studies and from discussions with clinical experts. Costs were obtained from reference publications,<sup>133,134</sup> published studies,<sup>83,135</sup> local providers and medical device manufacturers (Table 5). Costs were reported in UK pounds sterling (£) and inflation-adjusted to reflect 2000/01 prices.<sup>134</sup> Costs and resources were determined for use of Wilson Cook plastic tubes, covered Ultraflex SEMS and uncovered Ultraflex SEMS.

#### Analysis of results

Costs and outcomes were not discounted because of the short time-scales involved in oesophageal cancer palliation. The published NHS Reference costs were the basis for determining costs for health care involving the use of several types of resource.<sup>133</sup> NHS Reference costs are aggregated costs that represent the full cost for providing a service and include direct, indirect and overhead costs.

One-way sensitivity analysis tested the robustness of conclusions within a range of reasonable uncertainty. Individual outcome probabilities were varied by 10% and costs by 25% or by interquartile range (IQR) for NHS Reference costs<sup>133</sup> to derive a maximum and minimum average cost for each intervention.

It should be noted that sensitivity analysis to determine a maximum reasonable estimate of the average cost of one intervention, resulted in simultaneous increases (albeit smaller) in the estimated costs for the other two interventions since several resources are common to all three interventions. Similarly, the estimated cost of all three interventions decreased when sensitivity analysis was conducted to derive a reasonable minimum average cost of any one of the interventions. Therefore, the range of incremental cost-effectiveness ratios was *not* determined by comparing minimum cost of one intervention with the maximum cost of the other, but an adjustment was made to account for the simultaneous changes in costs.

# 5.2 Economic analysis results

# 5.2.1 Published economic evaluations

Table 3 is a summary of the findings of the six published economic evaluations. Two studies<sup>136,137</sup> reported higher overall costs for plastic tubes although two others<sup>85,89</sup> suggested that plastic tubes become more costly above a threshold cost for hospitalisation, since hospital stay is shorter for patients treated with SEMS.

No study stated explicitly from whose viewpoint the analysis was undertaken although all appear to be from a health service (hospital) perspective. Only one study<sup>85</sup> did not report unit costs and resource quantities separately. The study by O'Donnell et al<sup>83</sup> was the only one to discount costs to reflect long-term use of reusable equipment (e.g. endoscopes) and to report the year to which prices related. The time horizon of all studies except one<sup>84</sup> was long-term, i.e. measuring costs and outcomes for the initial stent placement as well as for re-intervention for treatment of complications or dysphagia recurrence. Three studies<sup>83,85,89</sup> reported the use of sensitivity analysis.

#### Table 3 - Published economic studies comparing metal and plastic oesophageal stents

(CEA- cost-effectiveness analysis; ICER- incremental cost-effectiveness ratio; LOS- length of hospital stay; long-term- initial placement and follow-up for treatment of complications/dysphagia recurrence)

Study	Type of economic evaluation	Source of effectivenes s data	Summary benefit measures	Costs included	Comments/Results
O'Donnell <sup>83</sup>	Costs& outcomes	Single RCT	Survival	Equipment, drugs, staff, overheads, hospital stay	Mean cost significantly > for SEMS only for the first 4 weeks following placement
Sanyika <sup>84</sup>	Costs& outcomes	Single RCT		Hospital stay, theatre time, nursing time, materials	Mean cost > for SEMS
Roseveare <sup>85</sup>	Costs& outcomes	Single RCT		"Materials and procedures"	Mean cost > for SEMS but SEMS cost less if hospital stay >£120/day.
Knyrim <sup>89</sup>	ICER	Single RCT	Premature deaths avoided; LOS	Stent only	ICER \$457 per premature death avoided. SEMS cost less if hospital stay >\$193/day.
Birch <sup>137</sup>	Costs& outcomes	Retrospectiv e cohort	Dysphagia score, complications	Hospital stay, theatre time, ITU, stents	Median costs > for plastic tubes
Nicholson <sup>136</sup>	CEA	Retrospectiv e cohort	Dysphagia score, survival	Hospital stay, procedures	Mean cost significantly > for plastic tubes. Cost per day palliation and cost per day per improved dysphagia also > for plastic tubes.

# 5.2.2 Estimation of incremental benefits

	Study	Incremental survival advantage of SEMS vs plastic tubes (days)	Incremental difference in post-Rx dysphagia score (when measured)
Covered	Siersema et al <sup>86</sup>	-12	0.1 (4wk)
SEMS	O'Donnell et al <sup>83</sup>	45	
	Roseveare et al <sup>85</sup>	55	1 (1wk)
	Sanyika et al <sup>84</sup>		1 (1mth)
Uncovered	De Palma et al <sup>88</sup>	12	0.5 (immediate)
SEMS	Knyrim et al <sup>89</sup>	21	0 (6wk)

Table 4 - Primary outcomes following for incremental benefit estimation

Table 4 lists the incremental differences in the primary outcomes used as the summary benefit measures in the economic analysis. Compared to plastic tubes, covered SEMS were associated with an average of 29 days longer survival (range -12 to 55) and uncovered SEMS an average 17 (range 12 to 21) days longer survival. At one week to one month following insertion, covered SEMS were associated with a greater decrease (improvement) in dysphagia score of 0.7 (range 0.1 to 1) compared to plastic tubes. Uncovered SEMS were associated with a greater decrease (improvement) in dysphagia score of 0.25 (range 0 to 0.5) compared to plastic tubes.

# 5.2.3 Estimation of net costs

Tables 4-7 list the unit costs and resources involved in endoprosthesis insertion and for managing complications and dysphagia recurrence.

Type of resource	ltem	Unit cost (£)	Plastic tube	Covere dSEMS	Uncov'd SEMS
Bed days	GE ward <sup>134</sup>	£249	1	1	1
Equipment	Wilson-Cook tube <sup>83</sup>	£128	1		
	Cov'd SEMS*	£855		1	
	Uncov'd SEMS*	£705			1
Procedure s	Prosthesis insertion <sup>133</sup>	£367	1	1	1
	Contrast study <sup>133</sup>	£111	1	1	1
Total			£855	£1,582	£1,432

Table 5 - Resources and costs for endoprosthesis insertion

\* Ultraflex stents; cost information provided by Boston Scientific UK Ltd

Type of resource	Item	Unit cost	Non- fatal haemor rhage	Non- fatal perf- oration	Non- fatal aspir- ation
Bed days	GE ward <sup>134</sup>	£249			5
	Surgical ward <sup>134</sup>	£341	2	3	
	HDU <sup>133</sup>	£431	1	2	3
Procedure	CXR <sup>133</sup>	£29		2	2
S	Contrast study <sup>133</sup>	£111		1	
Total			£1,113	£2,054	£2,596

#### Table 6 - Resources and costs for management of non-fatal complications

# Table 7 - Resources and costs for management of fatal complications

Type of resource	Item	Unit cost	Fatal haem- orrhage	Fatal perf- oration	Fatal aspir- ation
Bed days	HDU <sup>133</sup>	£431	2	3	4
Procedure	CXR <sup>133</sup>	£29	1	2	2
Total			£891	£1,351	£1,782

Type of resource	Item	Unit cost	Diagnostic endoscopy	Therapeuti c endoscopy	Dilation	Laser	Plastic tube	Covered SEMS	Uncovere d SEMS	Alcohol + needle
Out-patient	Attendance <sup>134</sup>	£134	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Bed days	GE Ward <sup>134</sup>	£249	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
Procedure s	Contrast study <sup>133</sup>	£111	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
	Diagnostic endoscopy <sup>133</sup>	£287	1		1	1	1	1	1	1
	Therapeutic endoscopy <sup>133</sup>	£368		1						
	Dilation <sup>135</sup>	£83			1					
	Laser <sup>135</sup>	£113				1				
	Plastic tube <sup>83</sup>	£128					1			
	Covered SEMS*	£855						1		
	Uncovered SEMS*	£705							1	
	Alcohol + needle**	£25								1
Total cost			£1,030	£1,111	£1,113	£1,143	£1,158	£1,885	£1,735	£1,055

### Table 8 - Resources and costs for management of dysphagia recurrence

\* Ultraflex stents; cost information provided by Boston Scientific UK Ltd \*\* Cost information provided by endoscopy unit, Birmingham City Hospital

Figures 10-12 are the decision trees outlining the models for the three different endoprostheses. (Haemorrhage and perforation did not occur in any patient receiving uncovered SEMS in both studies<sup>88,89</sup>- Figure 12.) The average cost of using a plastic tube was £1,609, compared to £2,222 for a covered SEMS and £1,967 for an uncovered SEMS.

#### Figure 10 - Cost of plastic stents







Figure 12 - Cost of uncovered self-expanding stents



#### 5.2.4 Sensitivity analysis

The most important determinants of the average cost of inserting an endoprosthesis were the cost of hospitalisation on a gastroenterology ward, cost of the stent, cost of prosthesis insertion, probability of developing major complications and probability of prolonged dysphagia relief (i.e. of not requiring re-intervention). Other important determinants of average cost were the cost of clinic attendance and cost of each day in the HDU. Probabilities of technical success and of surviving a major complication had little impact.

A reasonable estimation/(range) for the average cost of inserting a plastic tube is  $\pounds$ 1,610 (1,040-2,250). The corresponding averages for covered SEMS are  $\pounds$ 2,220 (1,630-3,080) and for uncovered SEMS  $\pounds$ 1,970 (1,310-2,860).

#### 5.2.5 Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio

Using the above estimates of incremental costs and table 4 for incremental effectiveness, the incremental cost-effectiveness ratios are as follows:

#### Covered SEMS vs plastic tubes

#### Survival

Covered SEMS cost on average £610 more and result in 29 days longer survival compared to plastic tubes or £21 for every additional day survived (£7,630 per life-year saved). In the worst case scenario, covered SEMS cost on average £1,670 more and result in 12 days shorter survival. At best, covered SEMS cost £220 less and result in 55 days longer survival than plastic tubes.

#### Post-intervention dysphagia score

Covered SEMS are associated with a short-term post-treatment dysphagia score of 0.7 lower (better) compared to plastic tubes. This gives a cost of £880 for an added 1-point improvement in dysphagia score. In the worst case scenario the improvement in dysphagia score is only 0.1 and associated with a cost of £16,700 for every additional point improvement in dysphagia score. At best, covered SEMS cost £220 less and result in a 1-point better improvement in dysphagia.

#### Uncovered SEMS vs plastic tubes

#### Survival

Uncovered SEMS cost on average £360 more and result in *16 days longer survival* compared to plastic tubes or *£22 for every additional day survived* (£7,920 per life-year saved). In the worst case scenario, uncovered SEMS cost on average £1,440 more for 12 extra days of life or £120 for each additional day survived. At best, uncovered SEMS cost £530 less and result in 21 days longer survival.

#### Post-intervention dysphagia score

Uncovered SEMS are associated with a short-term post-treatment dysphagia score of 0.25 lower (better) compared to plastic tubes. This gives a cost of £1,430 for an added 1-point improvement in dysphagia score. In the worst case scenario there is no additional improvement in dysphagia score with uncovered SEMS but they cost

 $\pounds$ 1,440 more. At best uncovered SEMS are associated with a 0.5 point better improvement in dysphagia score associated with  $\pounds$ 530 lower cost.

# 6. Implications for the West Midlands NHS

Oesophageal endoprostheses are used in 230 patients for the palliation of dysphagia due to oesophageal cancer in the West Midlands each year. Use of SEMS would incur additional costs of £140,000 each year for the West Midlands secondary health care sector, but this would be associated with an average of one month longer survival. Uncertainty in the data gives a range of £125,000 in savings for 8 weeks longer survival, to £385,000 extra cost for no survival advantage (2 weeks shorter survival).

# 7. Discussion

# 7.1 Main results

# 7.1.1 Efficacy of SEMS

Six small RCTs compared SEMS with plastic tubes.

In patients with inoperable oesophageal (excluding proximal tumours) and cardial cancer, compared to plastic endoprostheses SEMS were associated with, on average (range)-

Marginally improved survival of 24 days longer (-12 to 55);

Marginally lower 30-day mortality of 7% less (-4 to 20%);

Similar quality of life scores;

Marginally better *initial* improvement in dysphagia scores of 0.5 greater decrease (0 to 1);

Similar rates of dysphagia recurrence (10-56 vs 19-68%);

Significantly lower rates of perforation and haemorrhage of 11% less (-8 to 20%); Significantly lower procedure-related mortality of 9% less (0 to 14%); Shorter initial (mean/median 1-4 vs 3-10 days) and total (5-8 vs 12-12.5 days)

duration of hospitalisation and

Similar technical success rates (95-100 vs 90-100%);

All six included studies were prone to bias from a lack of observer blinding and differential treatment (oesophageal dilation) of randomised groups. There was considerable clinical heterogeneity (choice of SEMS, choice of plastic tubes and patient selection) among the studies.

# 7.1.2 Cost-effectiveness of SEMS

The average cost of inserting a plastic tube is about  $\pounds 1,610$ . The corresponding averages for covered SEMS are  $\pounds 2,220$  and for uncovered SEMS  $\pounds 1,970$ .

Covered SEMS cost on average £21 more for every additional day survived and about £880 for an added 1-point improvement in dysphagia score. Uncovered SEMS cost on

average £22 more for every additional day survived and about £1,430 for an added 1-point improvement in dysphagia score.

The use of SEMS costs the West Midlands secondary health care sector an extra  $\pounds 140,000$  each year for 230 patients to live for an average of one month longer.

# 7.2 Limitations

# 7.2.1 Bias

The included studies were prone to bias that could explain partially the marginal benefits of SEMS over plastic tubes. Lack of observer blinding could have biased the measuring and reporting of outcomes. There was also the possibility of differential treatment, with a greater degree of oesophageal dilation in patients randomised to plastic tubes. Therefore, it could be considered that the studies did not compare SEMS with plastic tubes, but that SEMS with or without minimal oesophageal dilation. Oesophageal dilation can result in dangerous complications (perforation and haemorrhage) that impact on important outcomes (early mortality, survival and duration of hospital stay). If routine vigorous oesophageal dilation is an essential part of the procedure for inserting plastic tubes then the groups *were* treated equally apart from the interventions (procedures) being compared.

# 7.2.2 Heterogeneity

The meta-analysis results should be interpreted with caution because of the considerable clinical heterogeneity among studies. Limitations of the cost-effectiveness analysis include the use of aggregated costs. However, to disaggregate the resources involved would have been very difficult for such a complex decision tree.

# 7.3 Outcomes

# 7.3.1 Relief of dysphagia

Greater dysphagia relief may have been expected with SEMS because of their larger internal diameters (ID 16-25mm vs. 12mm for plastic tubes). All *SEMS* were dilated to 20mm after insertion to ensure adequate expansion of the device in the only study reporting significantly greater improvement in dysphagia.<sup>85</sup> Only 12mm diameter dilation (the same ID as plastic tubes) of *SEMS* was achieved in the only other study in which metal stents were dilated post-insertion.<sup>88</sup>

# 7.3.2 Procedural complications

In the five studies that reported lower perforation rates for SEMS the *oesophagus* was dilated to a diameter of only 0-12mm in SEMS patients, compared to a diameter of 17-25mm in patients given rigid tubes.<sup>84-86,88,89</sup> In the only study reporting a higher frequency of perforation among the SEMS group, there was less disparity between the degree of oesophageal dilation among SEMS patients ( $\leq$ 12mm) compared to patients with plastic tubes (15mm mean).<sup>83</sup> The lower frequency of haemorrhage and

procedure-related mortality among the SEMS group may be due also to differential oesophageal dilation.

Pulmonary aspiration (which was similar in both groups) is probably related more to anaesthesia and monitoring of patients than to the type of oesophageal endoprosthesis used.

# 7.3.3 Duration of hospital stay

Since procedure-related complications were lower among SEMS patients in most studies, it is unsurprising that initial hospitalisation was also shorter.<sup>84-86,89</sup>

# 7.3.4 Quality of life (QoL)

Quality of life (QoL) is the outcome used increasingly nowadays to evaluate the quality, effectiveness, and efficiency of health care.<sup>138</sup> This is especially important in malignant disease where treatment may be associated with prolonged survival but considerably worse QoL. A reliable and valid questionnaire (EORTC QLQ-C30) for international use in evaluating QoL in cancer patients has been developed<sup>139</sup> and an oesophageal cancer-specific module added (QLQ-OES 24).<sup>140</sup>

Difficulties with measuring QoL, and attributing it to health and health care, arise partly because of individuals' vastly different expectations;<sup>138</sup> i.e. individuals with the same clinical condition and functional ability may report different QoL because of different expectations of health.

Since it is the commonest complaint in oesophageal cancer, dysphagia should represent an important determinant of QoL<sup>141</sup> and patients confirm that this is so.<sup>142</sup> However, treatments such as surgery can improve dysphagia while QoL deteriorates.<sup>49</sup> Nevertheless dysphagia is correlated with psychological well-being and other QoL indicators after palliative intervention.<sup>49</sup>

No study found significant differences in QoL or general health status<sup>83,85,89</sup> but only one study used the oesophageal cancer-specific questionnaire.<sup>83</sup>

# 7.3.5 Survival / mortality

Survival did not appear to be related to serious complications or procedure-related mortality, i.e. studies with the biggest apparent differences in complications and procedure-related mortality had similar survival rates for patients with SEMS and plastic tubes.<sup>83,85,86,88,89</sup>

# 7.3.6 Local SEMS provision

The marginal benefits of SEMS reported in clinical trials may not reflect the substantial benefits due to their ease of insertion<sup>30,57</sup> that occurs in everyday use. Unpublished data from a comprehensive 5-year audit (1992-96) of West Midlands cases revealed 23 perforations from 524 plastic tubes (4.4%) and none from 157 SEMS (personal communication, EW Gillison). However a smaller retrospective analysis suggested that ease of insertion does not always translate into beneficial effects.<sup>143</sup>

### 7.3.7 Cost-effectiveness

Six published economic analyses comparing SEMS with plastic tubes were found. Four reported greater average costs for SEMS.<sup>83-85,89</sup> This was consistent with the findings of the present study. Two studies reported that plastic tubes were overall more expensive due to the costs of managing and the longer hospitalisation resulting from procedure-related complications.<sup>136,137</sup>

These differences may be explained by contrasting methods of inserting stents and confirming their position, with resulting differences in resources used. Even if the same resources were used, different costing methodology may arrive at dissimilar results. Studies varied also in resources that were considered; e.g. in one study the only cost considered was that of the stent alone.<sup>89</sup>

# 8. Conclusions

There is fair evidence that SEMS offer marginal benefits in prolonging survival, reducing hospitalisation and major complications, and improving dysphagia relief compared to plastic tubes in patients with inoperable oesophageal cancer. These benefits are associated with a small additional cost.

The disadvantages of plastic tubes could possibly be reduced if less oesophageal dilation was employed during their insertion. Conversely, ensuring optimal expansion of SEMS post-insertion and appropriate dietary advice to patients could result in greater and more prolonged benefits in dysphagia relief.

The ease of insertion of SEMS may result in greater clinical and economic benefits in everyday practice than those observed in clinical trials.

# 8. APPENDICES

#### Appendix 1 - National survey of SEMS provision

#### Methods

A computer-generated random sample of 10% of the 274 Acute NHS Trusts in England yielded 35 Trusts of which 13 were excluded because they were either Community or Ambulance Trusts. A short questionnaire was then used in a telephone survey. The nurse-in-charge at the time of contacting the endoscopy unit was the respondent surveyed.

#### Questionnaire

#### Results

The response rate was 86%. Of the responders, 21% used plastic as well as metal stents but only two (11%) units used plastic tubes more than occasionally.

#### Appendix 2 - Survey of SEMS provision in the West Midlands

#### Aims

The aims of this survey were twofold; (1) to determine resources used in endoprosthesis insertion to inform the economic analysis (Chapter 4) and (2) to assess the effectiveness of local SEMS provision to inform a wider evaluation of SEMS provision. Only the results that are relevant to this review are presented.

#### Methods

A questionnaire was piloted with the help of local clinicians. A letter was sent to the Nurse-in-Charge of 18 endoscopy units in the region asking for their assistance in the survey. (Two provider units were inadvertently omitted from the sampling frame.) Two weeks later the telephone survey was conducted.

#### Questionnaire

#### Results

The response rate was 94%. All providers used SEMS but only 19% used plastic tubes as well.

The procedure for inserting SEMS varied considerably. In 25% of units they were done as day-cases; under general anaesthesia in 13%; in the radiology department in 67% (in the endoscopy unit in 20% and in theatres in 13%); and by the gastroenterologist in 88% (by surgeons in 31% and radiologists in 13%).

Adequate position was confirmed by fluoroscopy (44%), contrast studies (31%), plain X-ray (13%) or endoscopy (6%). Dietary advice was provided in most cases (81%) from a variety of sources (nurse specialist 19%; diet sheet 19%; dietician 25%; nutrition team 6%; registered nurse 13%).

Patients were followed-up routinely as an out-patient in 19% or had open access to the clinic (13%), nurse specialist (19%) or endoscopy unit (13%).

### Appendix 3 - Stents received by West Midlands residents

Oesophageal endoprostheses inserted by West Midlands providers for West Midlands patients in 1999/2000

Acute NHS Trust	Number of
	stents
Burton Hospitals	1
Hereford Hospitals	3
Alexandra Healthcare	4
Kidderminster Healthcare	4
Sandwell Healthcare	4
Birmingham Heartlands & Solihull	5
South Warwickshire General	5
Hospitals	
The Princess Royal Hospital	6
The Royal Wolverhampton	6
Hospitals	
George Eliot Hospital	7
Good Hope Hospital	10
Worcestershire Acute Hospitals	12
Walsall Hospitals	17
City Hospital	19
Mid Staffordshire General Hospitals	19
Royal Shrewsbury Hospitals	20
Walsgrave Hospitals	20
Dudley Group of Hospitals	22
North Staffordshire Hospital	22
University Hospital Birmingham	24
Total	230

Data source: West Midlands Safe Haven HES Pilot, Public Health Institute, University of Birmingham (West Midlands residents received a total of 232 stents, i.e. 2 stents were provided outside of the West Midlands.)

#### Appendix 4 - Search strategy

The key elements of the strategy were as follows (see main report for further details):

Electronic searches of MEDLINE (Ovid Biomed) The following combination of terms were used-1 esophag\$.mp oesophag\$.mp exp Esophagus/ or/1-3 cancer\$.mp carcin\$.mp neoplasm\$.mp malignan\$.mp tumour\$.mp tumor\$.mp "squamous cell".mp adenocarcinoma\$.mp exp Neoplasms/ or/5-13 4 and 14 exp Esophageal Neoplasms/ 15 or 16 stent\$.mp SEMS.mp prosthes\$.mp endoprosthes\$.mp intubat\$.mp exp Stents/ exp Intubation/ exp Intubation, Gastrointestinal/ exp Prostheses and Implants/ or/18-26 17 and 27 exp Randomized Controlled Trials/ exp Random Allocation/ exp Clinical Trials/ exp Double-Blind Method/ exp Placebos/ exp Cross-Over Studies/ exp Research Design/ exp Comparative Study/ randomized controlled trial.pt controlled clinical trial.pt clinical trial.pt multicenter study.pt (clini\$ adj trial\$).mp (control\$ adj (trial\$ or stud\$)).mp ((singl\$ or doubl\$ or trebl\$ or tripl\$) adj (blind\$ or mask\$)).mp placebo\$.mp

random\$.mp or/29-45 28 and 46 limit 47 to publication date 1980-2001

#### Electronic searches of EMBASE (BIDS Ovid)

The following combination of terms were usedesophag\$.mp oesophag\$.mp exp Esophagus/ or/1-3 cancer\$.mp carcin\$.mp neoplasm\$.mp malignan\$.mp tumour\$.mp tumor\$.mp "squamous cell".mp adenocarcinoma\$.mp exp Malignant neoplastic disease/ or/5-13 4 and 14 exp Esophagus tumor/ exp Esophagus cancer/ or/15-17 stent\$.mp SEMS.mp prosthes\$.mp endoprosthes\$.mp intubat\$.mp exp Stent/ exp Intubation/ exp Esophagus intubation/ exp Prosthesis/ exp Esophagus prosthesis/ or/19-28 18 and 29 exp Randomized controlled trial/ exp randomization/ exp Clinical trial/ exp Double blind procedure/ exp Placebo/ exp Crossover procedure/ exp Controlled study/ exp Intermethod comparison/ exp Comparative study/ "randomized controlled trial".mp "randomized controlled trials".mp "randomised controlled trial".mp "randomised controlled trials".mp

"clinical trial".mp
"clinical trials".mp
"multicenter studies".mp
"multicentre studies".mp
"multicentre studies".mp
(clini\$ adj trial\$).mp
(control\$ adj (trial\$ OR stud\$)).mp
((singl\$ OR doubl\$ OR trebl\$ OR tripl\$) adj (blind\$ OR mask\$)).mp
placebo\$.mp
random\$.mp
or/31-54
30 and 55
limit 56 to publication date 1980-2001

#### Electronic searches of CancerLit (Ovid Biomed)

The following combination of terms were usedesophag\$.mp oesophag\$.mp exp Esophagus/ or/1-3 stent\$.mp SEMS.mp prosthes\$.mp endoprosthes\$.mp intubat\$.mp exp Stents/ exp Intubation/ exp Intubation, Gastrointestinal/ exp Prostheses and Implants/ or/5-13 4 and 14 exp Randomized Controlled Trials/ exp Random Allocation/ exp Clinical Trials/ exp Double-Blind Method/ exp Placebos/ exp Cross-Over Studies/ exp Research Design/ exp Comparative Study/ "randomized controlled trial".mp "randomized controlled trials".mp "randomised controlled trial".mp "randomised controlled trials".mp controlled clinical trial.pt controlled clinical trials.sh clinical trials.sh controls.mp multicenter study.pt (clini\$ adj trial\$).mp

(control\$ adj (trial\$ or stud\$)).mp ((singl\$ or doubl\$ or trebl\$ or tripl\$) adj (blind\$ or mask\$)).mp placebo\$.mp random\$.mp or/16-37 15 and 38 limit 39 to publication date 1980-2001

### Appendix 5 - Co-interventions

Study	Interventions (n = )	Dilation	Placement	Other
89		40mm hallaan 44mm		Lasan Onto
Knyrim	Uncova SEMS (n = 21)	10mm balloon- 14pts	sedation	Laser- 3pts
	Plastic tube (n = 21)	20mm balloon; serial prn	GA	
DePalma <sup>88</sup>	Uncov'd SEMS (n = 19)	10-12 mm; 12mm post-insertn	diazepam5-10	
	Plastic tube (n = 20)	18-20 mm	GA- 60%	
O'Donnell <sup>83</sup>	Cov'd SEMS ( $n = 25$ )	12mm balloon- 6pts	diamorph5 + midaz 2-10	ChemoRx-5
	Plastic tube ( $n = 25$ )	14-19mm (mean15)- 18pts	GA- 4/23; others-	Radiation-1
			diamorph5 + midaz 2-10	
Sanyika <sup>84</sup>	Cov'd SEMS ( $n = 20$ )	12mm balloon	midaz 5-10 + LA	
	Plastic tube (n = 20)	25mm bougie	GA	
Roseveare <sup>85</sup>	Cov'd SEMS ( $n = 15$ )	to gastroscope OD prn;	diazepam + peth	
		+ 20mm post-insertn		
	Plastic tube (n = 16)	51Fr Keymed	diazepam + peth	
Siersema <sup>86</sup>	Cov'd SEMS (n = 37)	8mm	midaz	
	Plastic tube $(n = 38)$	17.2mm Keymed	GA	

#### Appendix 6 - Assumptions in respect of costs and benefits

(The term 'intervention' is used to describe the type of oesophageal endoprosthesis used, i.e. plastic tube, covered SEMS or uncovered SEMS.)

An average of the incremental benefit from individual studies is used in the costeffectiveness ratio calculation.

The costs of all relevant and important resources used in procedures, admissions and clinic attendances have been included in the summary costs provided by the Department of Health<sup>133</sup> and by the Personal Social Services Research Unit.<sup>134</sup> Therefore, the only other costs considered were for resources that may not have been included in the summary costs of a particular procedure/admission/attendance or those that would be different for each intervention.

The average cost of stent insertion (Table 5) includes the cost of: the device, one day on a gastroenterology ward, oesophageal prosthesis insertion and one contrast study.

The average cost of managing non-fatal complications is the same for all three interventions and outlined as in Table 6; e.g. for non-fatal haemorrhage the average cost includes the cost of: two days on a surgical ward and one day in HDU.

The average cost of managing fatal complications is the same for all three interventions and outlined as in Table 7; e.g. for fatal haemorrhage the average cost includes the cost of: two days in HDU and one chest X-ray.

The average cost of a therapeutic approach for managing dysphagia recurrence due to a particular problem (e.g. food bolus impaction) is the same for all three interventions and outlined as in Table 8. For example, the average cost of 'therapeutic endoscopy' used to manage dysphagia recurrence due to food bolus impaction, includes the cost of: one outpatient attendance, two days on a gastroenterology ward, one contrast study and one therapeutic endoscopy.

The probability of dysphagia recurrence in patients receiving a particular intervention is the same for those who do not develop major complications as for those who survive any major complication.

Dysphagia recurrence in patients with plastic tubes is managed as follows. Tube migration: SEMS (40%), therapeutic endoscopy (40%), laser (20%); Food bolus impaction: therapeutic endoscopy (100%); Tumour overgrowth: alcohol injection (80%), laser (20%); Fistula formation: SEMS (50%), diagnostic endoscopy (50%).

Dysphagia recurrence in patients with covered SEMS is managed as follows. Tube migration: uncovered SEMS (60%), oesophageal dilation (40%); Food bolus impaction: therapeutic endoscopy (100%); Tumour overgrowth: alcohol injection (70%), SEMS (20%), laser (10%); Fistula formation: plastic tube (80%), diagnostic endoscopy (20%). Dysphagia recurrence in patients with uncovered SEMS is managed as follows. Tumour ingrowth: laser (100%);

Food bolus impaction: therapeutic endoscopy (100%);

Tumour overgrowth: alcohol injection (70%), SEMS (20%), laser (10%);

Fistula formation: plastic tube (80%), diagnostic endoscopy (20%).

# 9. References

- 1 Bhansali MS, Vaidya JS, Bhatt RG, Patil PK, Badwe RA, Desai PB. Chemotherapy for carcinoma of the esophagus: a comparison of evidence from meta-analyses of randomized trials and of historical control studies. *Ann Oncol* 1996; **7**(4):355-359.
- 2 Siewert JR, Stein HJ. Classification of adenocarcinoma of the oesophagogastric junction. [see comments]. *British Journal of Surgery* 1998; **85**(11):1457-1459.
- 3 Wijnhoven BP, Siersema PD, Hop WC, van Dekken H, Tilanus HW. Adenocarcinomas of the distal oesophagus and gastric cardia are one clinical entity.Rotterdam Oesophageal Tumour Study Group. *British Journal of Surgery* 1999: **86**(4):529-535.
- 4 Tuyns AJ, Pequignot G, Jensen OM. [Esophageal cancer in Ille-et-Vilaine in relation to levels of alcohol and tobacco consumption. Risks are multiplying]. *Bull Cancer* 1977;
   64(1):45-60.
- 5 Jankowski, JA. CRC CancerStats: Oesophageal cancer UK. London: The Cancer Research Campaign.; 2001. Report No.:
- 6 Chang F, Syrjanen S, Shen Q, Cintorino M, Santopietro R, Tosi P, et al. Human papillomavirus involvement in esophageal carcinogenesis in the high-incidence area of China. A study of 700 cases by screening and type-specific in situ hybridization. Scand J Gastroenterol 2000; **35**(2):123-130.
- 7 Cameron AJ, Zinsmeister AR, Ballard DJ, Carney JA. Prevalence of columnar-lined (Barrett's) esophagus. Comparison of population-based clinical and autopsy findings. *Gastroenterology* 1990; **99**(4):918-922.
- 8 Jankowski JA, Harrison RF, Perry I, Balkwill F, Tselepis C. Barrett's metaplasia. *Lancet* 2000; **356**(9247):2079-2085.
- 9 NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. Management of upper gastro-intestinal cancers. *Effective Health Care* 2000; **6**(4):1-15.
- 10 Office for National Statistics. Registrations of cancer diagnosed in 1993-1996, England and Wales. *Health Statistics Quarterly* 1999; **4**:59-70.
- 11 Blot WJ. Esophageal cancer trends and risk factors. *Semin Oncol* 1994; **21**(4):403-410.
- 12 Parkin DM, Pisani P, Ferlay J. Estimates of the worldwide incidence of 25 major cancers in 1990. *International Journal of Cancer* 1999; **80**(6):827-841.
- 13 NHS Executive. Guidance on Commissioning Cancer Services. Improving Outcomes in Upper Gastro-intestinal Cancers. The Manual. London: Department of Health; NHS Executive; 2001. Report No.:
- 14 Accessed Jan 02. Available at: http://www-dep.iarc.fr/eucan/eucan.htm.
- 15 Fraumeni JF, Jr., Blot WJ. Geographic variation in esophageal cancer mortality in the United States. *Journal of Chronic Diseases* 1977; **30**(11):759-767.
- 16 Blot WJ, Devesa SS, Kneller RW, Fraumeni JF, Jr. Rising incidence of adenocarcinoma of the esophagus and gastric cardia. [see comments]. *JAMA* 1991; 265(10):1287-1289.
- 17 Brewster DH, Fraser LA, McKinney PA, Black RJ. Socioeconomic status and risk of adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus and cancer of the gastric cardia in Scotland. *British Journal of Cancer* 2000; **83**(3):387-390.
- 18 Devesa SS, Blot WJ, Fraumeni JF, Jr. Changing patterns in the incidence of esophageal and gastric carcinoma in the United States. *Cancer* 1998; 83(10):2049-2053.
- 19 Bytzer P, Christensen PB, Damkier P, Vinding K, Seersholm N. Adenocarcinoma of the esophagus and Barrett's esophagus: a population-based study. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 1999; **94**(1):86-91.
- 20 Dolan K, Sutton R, Walker SJ, Morris AI, Campbell F, Williams EM. New classification of oesophageal and gastric carcinomas derived from changing patterns in epidemiology. *British Journal of Cancer* 1999; **80**(5-6):834-842.
- 21 Liabeuf A, Faivre J. Time trends in oesophageal cancer incidence in Cote d'Or (France), 1976-93. *European Journal of Cancer Prevention* 1997; **6**(1):24-30.
- 22 Moyana TN, Janoski M. Recent trends in the epidemiology of esophageal cancer. Comparison of epidermoid- and adenocarcinomas. *Annals of Clinical & Laboratory Science* 1996; **26**(6):480-486.
- 23 Thomas RJ, Lade S, Giles GG, Thursfield V. Incidence trends in oesophageal and proximal gastric carcinoma in Victoria. *ANZ Journal of Surgery* 1996; **66**(5):271-275.

- 24 Hansen S, Wiig JN, Giercksky KE, Tretli S. Esophageal and gastric carcinoma in Norway 1958-1992: incidence time trend variability according to morphological subtypes and organ subsites. *International Journal of Cancer* 1997; **71**(3):340-344.
- 25 Chow WH, Blot WJ, Vaughan TL, Risch HA, Gammon MD, Stanford JL, *et al.* Body mass index and risk of adenocarcinomas of the esophagus and gastric cardia. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1998; **90**(2):150-155.
- 26 DeMeester TR. Esophageal carcinoma: current controversies. [Review] [93 refs]. Seminars in Surgical Oncology 1997; **13**(4):217-233.
- 27 Tzonou A, Lipworth L, Garidou A, Signorello LB, Lagiou P, Hsieh C, *et al.* Diet and risk of esophageal cancer by histologic type in a low-risk population. *International Journal of Cancer* 1996; **68**(3):300-304.
- 28 Ekstrom AM, Signorello LB, Hansson LE, Bergstrom R, Lindgren A, Nyren O. Evaluating gastric cancer misclassification: a potential explanation for the rise in cardia cancer incidence. [see comments]. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1999; **91**(9):786-790.
- 29 Levi F, Te VC, Randimbison L, La Vecchia C. Re: Evaluating gastric cancer misclassification: a potential explanation for the rise in cardia cancer incidence. [letter; comment]. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1999; **91**(18):1585-1586.
- 30 Kubba AK, Krasner N. An update in the palliative management of malignant dysphagia. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2000; **26**(2):116-129.
- 31 Levine MS, Chu P, Furth EE, Rubesin SE, Laufer I, Herlinger H. Carcinoma of the esophagus and esophagogastric junction: sensitivity of radiographic diagnosis. *AJR* 1997; *American Journal of Roentgenology*. **168**(6):1423-1426.
- 32 Jones R. Upper gastrointestinal endoscopy--a view from general practice. *Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners* 1986; **36**(282):6-8.
- 33 TNM classification of malignant tumours. 5th ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 1997.
- 34 Harris KM, Kelly S, Berry E, Hutton J, Roderick P, Cullingworth J, *et al.* Systemic review of endoscopic ultrasound in gastro-oesophageal cancer. [Review] [129 refs]. *Health Technology Assessment (Southampton, UK)* 2001; **2** (18):i-iv.
- 35 Esophageal cancer: A systematic review. *Current Problems in Cancer* 2000; **24**(6):299-373.
- 36 Allen JW, Richardson JD, Edwards MJ. Squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus: a review and update. *Surg Oncol* 1997; **6**(4):193-200.
- 37 Macdonald JS, Smalley SR, Benedetti J, Hundahl SA, Estes NC, Stemmermann GN, et al. Chemoradiotherapy after surgery compared with surgery alone for adenocarcinoma of the stomach or gastroesophageal junction. New England Journal of Medicine 2001; 345(10):725-730.
- 38 Swisher SG, Deford L, Merriman KW, Walsh GL, Smythe R, Vaporicyan A, et al. Effect of operative volume on morbidity, mortality, and hospital use after esophagectomy for cancer. Journal of Thoracic & Cardiovascular Surgery 2000; 119(6):1126-1132.
- 39 Begg CB, Cramer LD, Hoskins WJ, Brennan MF. Impact of hospital volume on operative mortality for major cancer surgery. [see comments]. *JAMA* 1998; 280(20):1747-1751.
- 40 O'Reilly S, Forastiere AA. Is surgery necessary with multimodality treatment of oesophageal cancer. [letter; comment]. *Annals of Oncology* 1995; **6**(6):519-521.
- 41 Coia LR. Esophageal cancer: is esophagectomy necessary?. [Review] [42 refs]. *Oncology (Huntington)* 1989; **3**(4):101-110.
- 42 Earlam R. An MRC prospective randomised trial of radiotherapy versus surgery for operable squamous cell carcinoma of the oesophagus. [see comments]. *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England* 1991; **73**(1):8-12.
- 43 Lambert R. Treatment of esophagogastric tumors. *Endoscopy* 2000; **32**(4):322-330.
- 44 Siersema PD, Dees J, van Blankenstein M. Palliation of malignant dysphagia from oesophageal cancer. Rotterdam Oesophageal Tumor Study Group. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl 1998; 225:75-84.
- 45 Bancewicz J. Palliation in oesophageal neoplasia. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 1999; **81**(6):382-386.
- 46 Watson A. Self-expanding metal oesophageal endoprostheses: which is best? [comment]. [Review]. European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology 1998; 10(5):363-365.

- 47 Kakegawa T, Yamana H, Ando N. Analysis of surgical treatment for carcinoma situated in the cervical esophagus. *Surgery* 1985; **97**(2):150-157.
- 48 Honkoop P, Siersema PD, Tilanus HW, Stassen LP, Hop WC, van Blankenstein M. Benign anastomotic strictures after transhiatal esophagectomy and cervical esophagogastrostomy: risk factors and management. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996; **111**(6):1141-1146.
- 49 Blazeby JM, Farndon JR, Donovan J, Alderson D. A prospective longitudinal study examining the quality of life of patients with esophageal carcinoma. *Cancer* 2000; 88(8):1781-1787.
- 50 Khandelwal M. Palliative therapy for carcinoma of the esophagus. *Compr Ther* 1995; **21**(4):177-183.
- 51 Atkinson M, Ferguson R. Fibreoptic endoscopic palliative intubation of inoperable oesophagogastric neoplasms. *Br Med J* 1977; **1**(6056):266-267.
- 52 Dougenis D, Petsas T, Bouboulis N, Leukaditou C, Vagenas C, Kardamakis D, *et al.* Management of non resectable malignant esophageal stricture and fistula. *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 1997; **11**(1):38-45.
- 53 Sargeant IR, Thorpe S, Bown SG. Cuffed esophageal prosthesis: a useful device in desperate situations in esophageal malignancy. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1992; 38 (6):669-675.
- 54 Hegarty MM, Angorn IB, Bryer JV, Henderson BJ, le Roux BT, Logan A. Palliation of malignant esophago-respiratory fistulae by permanent indwelling prosthetic tube. *Annals of Surgery* 1977; 185(1):88-91.
- 55 Palva T, Scheinin TM. Inoperable carcinoma of the esophagus or cardia. Experience with the palliative celestin tube intubation. *Archives of Otolaryngology* 1966; **83** (3):241-247.
- 56 Frimberger E. Expanding spiral--a new type of prosthesis for the palliative treatment of malignant esophageal stenoses. *Endoscopy* 1983; **15 Suppl 1**:213-214.
- 57 Shimi SM. Self-expanding metallic stents in the management of advanced esophageal cancer: a review. [Review]. *Seminars in Laparoscopic Surgery* 2000; **7**(1):9-21.
- 58 Narayan S, Sivak MV, Jr. Palliation of esophageal carcinoma. Laser and photodynamic therapy. [Review]. *Chest Surgery Clinics of North America* 1994; **4**(2):347-367.
- 59 Sawant D, Moghissi K. Management of unresectable oesophageal cancer: a review of 537 patients. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 1994; **8**(3):113-116.
- 60 Shmueli E, Myszor MF, Burke D, Record CO, Matthewson K. Limitations of laser treatment for malignant dysphagia. *Br J Surg* 1992; **79**(8):778-780.
- 61 Waters JS, Norman A, Cunningham D, Scarffe JH, Webb A, Harper P, *et al.* Long-term survival after epirubicin, cisplatin and fluorouracil for gastric cancer: results of a randomized trial. *British Journal of Cancer* 1999; **80**(1-2):269-272.
- 62 Webb A, Cunningham D, Scarffe JH, Harper P, Norman A, Joffe JK, *et al.* Randomized trial comparing epirubicin, cisplatin, and fluorouracil versus fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and methotrexate in advanced esophagogastric cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1997; **15**(1):261-267.
- 63 Andersen AP, Berdal P, Edsmyr F, Hagen S, Hatlevoll R, Nygaard K, *et al.* Irradiation, chemotherapy and surgery in esophageal cancer: a randomized clinical study. The first Scandinavian trial in esophageal cancer. *Radiotherapy & Oncology* 1984; **2**(3):179-188.
- 64 Ross P, Nicolson M, Cunningham D, Valle J, Seymour M, Harper P, et al. Prospective randomized trial comparing mitomycin, cisplatin, and protracted venous-infusion fluorouracil (PVI 5-FU) With epirubicin, cisplatin, and PVI 5-FU in advanced esophagogastric cancer. [see comments.]. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2002; 20(8):1996-2004.
- 65 Levard H, Pouliquen X, Hay JM, Fingerhut A, Langlois-Zantain O, Huguier M, et al. 5-Fluorouracil and cisplatin as palliative treatment of advanced oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma. A multicentre randomised controlled trial. The French Associations for Surgical Research. *European Journal of Surgery* 1998; **164**(11):849-857.
- 66 Mannell A, Becker PJ, Melissas J, Diamantes T. Intubation v. dilatation plus bleomycin in the treatment of advanced oesophageal cancer. The results of a prospective randomized trial. *South African Journal of Surgery* 1986; **24**(1):15-19.

- 67 Schmid EU, Alberts AS, Greeff F, Terblanche AP, Schoeman L, Burger W, *et al.* The value of radiotherapy or chemotherapy after intubation for advanced esophageal carcinoma--a prospective randomized trial. *Radiotherapy & Oncology* 1993; **28**(1):27-30.
  - 68 Kharadi MY, Qadir A, Khan FA, Khuroo MS. Comparative evaluation of therapeutic approaches in stage III and IV squamous cell carcinoma of the thoracic esophagus with conventional radiotherapy and endoscopic treatment in combination and endoscopic treatment alone: a randomized prospective trial. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics* 1997; **39**(2):309-320.
  - 69 Sargeant IR, Tobias JS, Blackman G, Thorpe S, Glover JR, Bown SG. Radiotherapy enhances laser palliation of malignant dysphagia: a randomised study. *Gut* 1997; 40(3):362-369.
  - 70 Reed CE, Marsh WH, Carlson LS, Seymore CH, Kratz JM. Prospective, randomized trial of palliative treatment for unresectable cancer of the esophagus. *Annals of Thoracic Surgery* 1991; **51**(4):552-555.
  - 71 Kolaric K, Maricic Z, Roth A, Dujmovic I. Combination of bleomycin and adriamycin with and without radiation on the treatment of inoperable esophageal cancer. A randomized study. *Cancer* 1980; **45**(9):2265-2273.
  - 72 Sur RK, Donde B, Levin VC, Mannell A. Fractionated high dose rate intraluminal brachytherapy in palliation of advanced esophageal cancer. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics* 1998; **40**(2):447-453.
  - 73 Tan CC, Freeman JG, Holmes GK, Benghiat A. Laser therapy combined with brachytherapy for the palliation of malignant dysphagia. *Singapore Medical Journal* 1998; **39**(5):202-207.
  - 74 Sander R, Hagenmueller F, Sander C, Riess G, Classen M. Laser versus laser plus afterloading with iridium-192 in the palliative treatment of malignant stenosis of the esophagus: a prospective, randomized, and controlled study. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1991; **37**(4):433-440.
  - 75 Low DE, Pagliero KM. Prospective randomized clinical trial comparing brachytherapy and laser photoablation for palliation of esophageal cancer. *Journal of Thoracic & Cardiovascular Surgery* 1992; **104**(1):173-178.
  - 76 Cooper JS, Guo MD, Herskovic A, Macdonald JS, Martenson JA, Jr., Al Sarraf M, et al. Chemoradiotherapy of locally advanced esophageal cancer: long-term follow-up of a prospective randomized trial (RTOG 85-01). Radiation Therapy Oncology Group. JAMA 1999; 281(17):1623-1627.
  - 77 Hukku S, Fernandes P, Vasishta S, Sharma VK. Radiation therapy alone and in combination with bleomycin and 5-fluorouracil in advanced carcinoma esophagus. *Indian Journal of Cancer* 1989; **26**(3):131-136.
  - 78 Hatlevoll R, Hagen S, Hansen HS, Hultborn R, Jakobsen A, Mantyla M, et al. Bleomycin/cis-platin as neoadjuvant chemotherapy before radical radiotherapy in localized, inoperable carcinoma of the esophagus. A prospective randomized multicentre study: the second Scandinavian trial in esophageal cancer. *Radiotherapy & Oncology* 1992; 24(2):114-116.
  - 79 Araujo CM, Souhami L, Gil RA, Carvalho R, Garcia JA, Froimtchuk MJ, *et al.* A randomized trial comparing radiation therapy versus concomitant radiation therapy and chemotherapy in carcinoma of the thoracic esophagus. *Cancer* 1991; **67**(9):2258-2261.
  - 80 Roussel A, Bleiberg H, Dalesio O, Jacob JH, Haegele P, Jung GM, *et al.* Palliative therapy of inoperable oesophageal carcinoma with radiotherapy and methotrexate: final results of a controlled clinical trial. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics* 1989; **16**(1):67-72.
  - 81 Faivre J, Forman D, Esteve J, Gatta G. Survival of patients with oesophageal and gastric cancers in Europe. *Eur J Cancer* 1998; **34**(14):2167-2175.
  - 82 Office for National Statistics. Mortality Statistics, Cause. London: Office for National Statistics; 1999. Report No.:
  - 83 O'Donnell CA, Fullarton GM, Watt E, Lennon K, Murray GD, Moss JG. Randomized clinical trial comparing self-expanding metallic stents with plastic endoprostheses in the palliation of oesophageal cancer. *British Journal of Surgery* 2002; **89**(8):985-992.
  - 84 Sanyika C, Corr P, Haffejee A. Palliative treatment of oesophageal carcinoma--efficacy of plastic versus self-expandable stents. *South African Medical Journal* 1999; 89(6):640-643.

- 85 Roseveare CD, Patel P, Simmonds N, Goggin PM, Kimble J, Shepherd HA. Metal stents improve dysphagia, nutrition and survival in malignant oesophageal stenosis: a randomized controlled trial comparing modified Gianturco Z-stents with plastic Atkinson tubes. *European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology* 1998; **10**(8):653-657.
- 86 Siersema PD, Hop WC, Dees J, Tilanus HW, van Blankenstein M. Coated selfexpanding metal stents versus latex prostheses for esophagogastric cancer with special reference to prior radiation and chemotherapy: a controlled, prospective study [see comments]. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1998; **47**(2):113-120.
- 87 Alfke H, Wagner H-J, Knyrim K, Bethge N, Keymling M. Lebensqualität nach palliativer Therapie der Dysphagie aufgrund maligner ösophagusstenosen. [Palliative therapy of dysphagia due to malignant esophageal stenoses and quality of life]. [German]. *Medizinische Welt* 1996; **47**(2):62-69.
- 88 De Palma GD, di Matteo E, Romano G, Fimmano A, Rondinone G, Catanzano C. Plastic prosthesis versus expandable metal stents for palliation of inoperable esophageal thoracic carcinoma: a controlled prospective study. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1996; **43**(5):478-482.
- 89 Knyrim K, Wagner HJ, Bethge N, Keymling M, Vakil N. A controlled trial of an expansile metal stent for palliation of esophageal obstruction due to inoperable cancer [see comments]. New England Journal of Medicine 1993; 329(18):1302-1307.
- 90 Tanaka T, Maeda M, Uchida H, Yoshioka T, Matsuo Y, Makutani S, et al. Clinical results of the internally covered spiral Z stent for malignant esophagogastric obstruction and the reduction of stent migration. *Journal of Vascular & Interventional Radiology* 2000; **11**(6):771-776.
- 91 Norberto L, Ranzato R, Erroi F, Marino S, Bardini R, Angriman I, *et al.* La palliazione del carcinoma esofageo e cardiale. [Palliative treatment of esophageal and cardial carcinoma]. [Italian]. *Minerva Chirurgica* 1999; **54** (10):647-655.
- 92 Meric B, Mak MA, Giudicelli R, Lienne P, Dejean B. Prothèses œsophagiennes dans les sténoses cancéreuses. Mise en place avec l'appareil de Dumon-Gilliard 342 malades. [Oesophageal prosthesis in cancerous stenosis. Placement with a Dumon-Gilliard applicator in 342 patients]. [French]. *Presse Medicale* 1993; **22**(14):662-666.
- 93 Bethge N, Sommer A, Vakil N. A prospective trial of self-expanding metal stents in the palliation of malignant esophageal strictures near the upper esophageal sphincter. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1997; **45**(3):300-303.
- 94 Goldin E, Beyar M, Safra T, Globerman O, Craciun I, Wengrower D, *et al.* A new selfexpandable, nickel-titanium coil stent for esophageal obstruction: A preliminary report. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1994; **40**(1):64-68.
- 95 Deviere J, Quarre JP, Love J, Cremer M. Self-expandable stent and injection of tissue adhesive for malignant bronchoesophageal fistula. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1994; 40(4):508-510.
- 96 Chan ACW, Leong HT, Chung SSC, Li AKC. Lipiodal as a reliable marker for stenting in malignant esophageal stricture [2]. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1994; **40**(4):520-521.
- 97 Dhir V, Swaroop VS, Deshpande RK. Esophagocutaneous fistula from cancer esophagus: Management by esophageal endoprosthesis [13]. American Journal of Gastroenterology 1995; **90**(1):172.
- 98 Fan Z, Dai N, Chen L. Expandable thermal-shaped memory metal esophageal stent: experiences with a new nitinol stent in 129 patients. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1997; 46(4):352-357.
- 99 De Palma GD, Sivero L, Galloro G, Abbruzzese P, Siciliano S, Richiello, *et al.* La palliazione endoscopica della disfagia secondaria a recidiva dell'area anastomotica dopo resezione esofagea e gastrectomia totale per carcinoma. [Endoscopic palliation of dysphagia due to anastomotic recurrences after esophageal surgery and total gastrectomy due to carcinoma]. [Italian]. *Minerva Chirurgica* 1998; **53**(10):781-785.
- 100 Gasparri G, Casalegno PA, Camandona M, Dei PM, Salizzoni M, Ferrarotti G, *et al.* Risultati immediati e a distanza dopo 248 intubazioni per via endoscopica nelle neoplasie inoperabili dell'esofago e del cardias. [Immediate and long-term results of 248 cases of endoscopic intubation in inoperable neoplasms of the esophagus and cardia]. [Italian]. *Minerva Chirurgica* 1986; **41**(21):1777-1782.

- 101 Ell C, May A, Hahn EG. Selbstexpandierende Metallendoprothesen zur Palliation stenosierender Tumoren im oberen Gastrointestinaltrakt. [Self-expanding metal endoprosthesis in palliation of stenosing tumors of the upper gastrointestinal tract. Comparison of experience with three stent types in 82 implantations]. [German]. *Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift* 1995; **120**(40):1343-1348.
- 102 Sommer A, Bethge N. Relief of malignant external gastric obstruction by endoscopic implantation of a self-expanding metal stent. *Endoscopy* 1995; **27**(2):210-211.
- 103 Gevers AM, Macken E, Hiele M, Rutgeerts P. A comparison of laser therapy, plastic stents, and expandable metal stents for palliation of malignant dysphagia in patients without a fistula. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1998; **48**(4):383-388.
- 104 Acquistapace G, Castelli A, Savio S, Bianchi M, Cataldi M, Bezzio L. II trattamento palliative del carcinoma dell'esofage. Laserterapia versus endoprotesi. [Palliative treatment of esophageal carcinoma: Lasertherapy versus endoprosthesis]. *Chirurgia* 1997; **10**(2):100-106.
- 105 Buset M, des MB, Baize M, Bourgeois N, de Boelpaepe C, de Toeuf J, *et al.* Palliative endoscopic management of obstructive esophagogastric cancer: laser or prosthesis? *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1987; **33**(5):357-361.
- 106 Graham DY, Dobbs SM, Zubler M. What is the role of prosthesis insertion in esophageal carcinoma? *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1983; **29**(1):1-5.
- 107 Nunes CCA, Waechter FL, Sampaio JA, Pinto RD, Alvares-Da-Silva MR, Pereira-Lima L. Comparative post-operative study of prostheses, with and without an anti-reflux valve system, in the palliative treatment of esophageal carcinoma. *Hepato-Gastroenterology* 1999; **46**(29):2859-2864.
- 108 Freitag L, Tekolf E, Steveling H, Donovan TJ, Stamatis G. Management of malignant esophagotracheal fistulas with airway stenting and double stenting. *Chest* 1996; **110** (5):1155-1160.
- 109 Kim SL, Goldschmid S. Palliation of malignant dysphagia: carvers versus plumbers. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 1995; **90**(3):512-513.
- 110 Carter R, Smith JS, Anderson JR. Laser recanalization versus endoscopic intubation in the palliation of malignant dysphagia: a randomized prospective study. *British Journal of Surgery* 1992; **79**(11):1167-1170.
- 111 O'Rourke IC, McNeil RJ, Walker PJ, Bull CA. Objective evaluation of the quality of palliation in patients with oesophageal cancer comparing surgery, radiotherapy and intubation. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Surgery* 1992; **62**(12):922-930.
- 112 Krevsky B. Palliation of advanced esophageal cancer: a (laser) light at the end of the tunnel. *Gastroenterology* 1991; **101**(6):1748-1750.
- 113 Loizou LA, Grigg D, Atkinson M, Robertson C, Bown SG. A prospective comparison of laser therapy and intubation in endoscopic palliation for malignant dysphagia [see comments]. *Gastroenterology* 1991; **100**(5 Pt 1):1303-1310.
- 114 Alderson D, Wright PD. Laser recanalization versus endoscopic intubation in the palliation of malignant dysphagia. *British Journal of Surgery* 1990; **77**(10):1151-1153.
- 115 O'Rourke IC, Johnson DC, Tiver KW, Bull CA, Feigen M, Gebski V, *et al.* Management of oesophageal cancer at Westmead Hospital from 1979-1985. *Medical Journal of Australia* 1988; **148**(9):450-456.
- 116 Angorn IB, Haffejee AA. Pulsion intubation v. restrosternal gastric bypass for palliation of unresectable carcinoma of the upper thoracic oesophagus. *British Journal of Surgery* 1983; **70**(6):335-338.
- 117 Zhang J-C, Zhang L-J, Zhang X-D, Wang Y-M, Li W. The malignant obstruction of the esophogas by advanced cancer and relieved by endoscopic treatment. *Chinese Journal of Cancer Research* 1999; **11**(3):227-229.
- 118 Schumacher B, Lubke H, Frieling T, Haussinger D, Niederau C. Palliative treatment of malignant esophageal stenosis: experience with plastic versus metal stents. *Hepato-Gastroenterology* 1998; **45**(21):755-760.
- 119 Tranberg K-G, Stael vH, Ivancev K, Cwikiel W, Lunderquist A. The YAG laser and Wallstent endoprosthesis for palliation of cancer in the esophagus or gastric cardia. *Hepato-Gastroenterology* 1995; **42**(2):139-144.
- 120 Loizou LA, Rampton D, Atkinson M, Robertson C, Bown SG. A prospective assessment of quality of life after endoscopic intubation and laser therapy for malignant dysphagia. *Cancer* 1992; **70**(2):386-391.

- 121 Conio M, Sorbi D. Metal stents improve dysphagia, nutrition and survival in malignant oesophageal stenosis: a randomized controlled trial comparing modified Gianturco Z-stents with plastic Atkinson tubes. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 2000; **51**(2):248-249.
- 122 Sterling MJ, Cave DR. Memory metal stents for palliation of malignant obstruction of the oesophagus and cardia. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1996; **44**(4):513-515.
- 123 Adam A, Ellul J, Watkinson AF, Tan BS, Morgan RA, Saunders MP, *et al.* Palliation of inoperable esophageal carcinoma: a prospective randomized trial of laser therapy and stent placement. *Radiology* 1997; **202**(2):344-348.
- 124 Mason R. Palliation of malignant dysphagia: an alternative to surgery. *Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England* 1996; **78**(5):457-462.
- 125 Konigsrainer A, Riedmann B, De Vries A, Ofner D, Spechtenhauser B, Aigner F, *et al.* Expandable metal stents versus laser combined with radiotherapy for palliation of unresectable esophageal cancer: a prospective randomized trial. *Hepato-Gastroenterology* 2000; **47**(33):724-727.
- 126 Garbarini A, Foco A, Serentha U, Gallingani R. Confronto tra intubazione endoscopica e chirurgica nel trattamento palliativo delle stenosi neoplastiche esofagee. [Comparison between endoscopic and surgical intubation in the palliative treatment of neoplastic stenosis of the esophagus]. [Italian]. *Minerva Chirurgica* 1987; **42** (8):727-734.
- 127 Berstad T, Haffner J, Viksmoen L, Stadaas J. Operativ eller endoskopisk intubasjon ved maligne strikturer i nedre del av oesophagus og cardia ventriculi. [Operative or endoscopic intubation of malignant strictures of the lower part of the esophagus and cardia]. [Norwegian]. *Tidsskrift for Den Norske Laegeforening* 1986; **106**(23):1807-1809.
- 128 Cochrane AL. Effectiveness and efficiency: random reflection on health services. London: Nuffield Provincial Hospitals Trust; 1972.
- 129 Greenhalgh T. How to read a paper. Papers that tell you what things cost (economic analyses). [Review] [18 refs]. *BMJ* 1997; **315**(7108):596-599.
- 130 Drummond MF, Jefferson TO. Guidelines for authors and peer reviewers of economic submissions to the BMJ. The BMJ Economic Evaluation Working Party. *BMJ* 1996; 313(7052):275-283.
- 131 Sculpher M, Drummond M, Buxton M. Economic evaluation in health care research and development: undertake it early and often. Discussion Paper No. 12. Uxbridge, Middlesex: Brunel University Health Economics Research Group; 1995.
- Lilford RJ, Thornton JD. Decision logic in medical practice. The Milroy Lecture 1992. [Review] [49 refs]. *Journal of the Royal College of Physicians of London* 1992;
   26(4):400-412.
- 133 Department of Health. Reference costs 2001. Available at: http://www.doh.gov.uk/nhsexec/refcosts.htm.
- 134 Netten A, Rees T, Harrison G. Unit Costs of Health and Social Care 2001. Canterbury: Personal Social Services Research Unit; 2001.
- 135 Farndon MA, Wayman J, Clague MB, Griffin SM. Cost-effectiveness in the management of patients with oesophageal cancer. *British Journal of Surgery* 1998; 85(10):1394-1398.
- 136 Nicholson DA, Haycox A, Kay CL, Rate A, Attwood S, Bancewicz J. The cost effectiveness of metal oesophageal stenting in malignant disease compared with conventional therapy. *Clinical Radiology* 1999; **54**(4):212-215.
- 137 Birch JF, White SA, Berry DP, Veitch PS. A cost-benefit comparison of self-expanding metal stents and Atkinson tubes for the palliation of obstructing esophageal tumors. *Diseases of the Esophagus* 1998; **11**(3):172-176.
- 138 Carr AJ, Gibson B, Robinson PG. Measuring quality of life: Is quality of life determined by expectations or experience? *BMJ* 2001; **322**(7296):1240-1243.
- 139 Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, Bullinger M, Cull A, Duez NJ, *et al.* The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: A quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1993; **85**(5):365-376.
- 140 Blazeby JM, Alderson D, Winstone K, Steyn R, Hammerlid, E, *et al.* Development of an EORTC questionnaire module to be used in quality of life assessment for patients with oesophageal cancer. *European Journal of Cancer Part A* 1996; **32**(11):1912-1917.
- 141 Earlam R, Cunha-Melo JR. Oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma: I. A critical review of surgery. [Review] [163 refs]. *British Journal of Surgery* 1980; **67**(6):381-390.

- 142 Kirby JD. Quality of life after oesophagectomy: the patients' perspective. *Diseases of the Esophagus* 1999; **12**(3):168-171.
- 143 Kozarek RA, Ball TJ, Brandabur JJ, Patterson DJ, Low D, Hill L, *et al.* Expandable versus conventional esophageal prostheses: easier insertion may not preclude subsequent stent-related problems [see comments]. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 1996; 43(3):204-208.